# TEACHING EXCELLENCE TASK FORCE

### **RECOMMENDATION REPORT**

CHAIR Dr. Leigh Van Horn

COMMITTEE Dr. Carolyn Ashe Dr. Adrian Gil Dr. Chuck Jackson Dr. Paul Mandell Dr. Whitney Botsford Morgan Dr. JoAnn Pavletich Dr. Timothy Redl Dr. Aimee Roundtree

> ONE MAIN STREET HOUSTON, TX 77002

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	4
METHODS	6
LITERATURE REVIEW	8
SURVEY OF OTHER UNIVERSITIES	14
CANVAS OF UHD FACULTY	19
EXTERNAL FUNDING POSSIBILITIES	23
RECOMMENDATIONS	27
REFERENCES	29
APPENDIX A: Focus Group Protocol	31
APPENDIX B: HIP Survey	34
APPENDIX C: Definition of Terms	35
APPENDIX D: Summary Tables of Findings	36
APPENDIX E: Bibliography of Faculty Development	40

# LIST OF TABLES

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FROM LITERATURE REVIEW	36
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FROM OTHER UNIVERSITIES	37
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FROM UHD FACULTY	38

# INTRODUCTION

#### CHARGE FROM THE FACULTY SENATE

Investigate best practices and successful models for faculty development for teaching excellence at urban commuter universities, including comprehensive Teaching and Learning Centers, and make a recommendation to the Faculty Senate regarding best practice models to be implemented at UHD.

In order to address the charge, the task force defined action sub-groups to examine the research on faculty development models, the best practices and successful models at urban commuter universities, and the best practices for teaching excellence that are occurring presently at the University of Houston – Downtown.

*Note:* We presented an interim report to the Faculty Senate on March 6, 2012. At the conclusion of the presentation the task force received feedback and suggestions from the Faculty Senate members. Our work for the second half of the semester consisted of the following:

Contact representatives from the five universities we named as exemplifying best practices and successful models for faculty development for teaching excellence at urban universities: Austin Peay State University, California State University at San Bernardino, University of Central Oklahoma, University of Texas – Brownsville, and William Paterson University of New Jersey.

Examine the goals and objectives that are measured by centers that have grants.

Examine the grant funding available for centers.

Use our examination of the faculty responses to the High Impact Practices Survey and/or faculty identified through other means by college to create focus groups on the following topics; teaching excellence at UHD, articulation of the institution's culture with regard to teaching excellence and faculty development, what type of program structure would faculty envision as useful and productive at UHD, and best practices that faculty would like to investigate further.

### METHODS

#### REVIEW OF BOOKS, BIBLIOGRAPHIES, AND PRELIMINARY REVIEW OF RESEARCH ON TEACHING EXCELLENCE

We conducted an initial review of the research literature of instructional development in higher education, concentrating the search on texts that reported faculty development, instructional and organizational development, principles of good practice in creating and sustaining teaching and learning centers, strategies for developing instructional effectiveness, institutional cultures, organizational structures to promote change, and promotion of informed and scholarly dialogue.

We conducted a second preliminary review of some of the research on teaching excellence. We identified 12 publications, from non-profit research councils and organizations and researchers in higher education and the scholarship of teaching and learning. We summarized their general findings pertinent to our charge as follows: What characterizes teaching excellence? How do teaching centers and universities promote teaching excellence? How is teaching excellence evaluated?

#### SURVEY OF OTHER UNIVERSITIES

In looking at best practices and successful models for faculty development for teaching excellence at urban commuter universities, we began with the 2009 integrated Postsecondary Education Data Systems Data Feedback Report for UHD. The task force condensed the list by assessing schools that most resembled UHD's "urban" and "commuter" campus. The task force reviewed the resulting data and chose five schools as representative of the best, those being Austin Peay State University, California State University at San Bernardino, University of Central Oklahoma, University of Texas – Brownsville, and William Paterson University of New Jersey.

We sent the following questions via email to the directors of centers at Austin Peay State University (APSU) and California State University-San Bernadino (CSUSB):

1) What kind of advice might you have for building a center such as yours? Are there tips, recommendations, or words of caution?

2) How have you measured the success of your programs? What kinds of metrics are used to demonstrate that you've met your goals/outcomes?

3) What is the most successful or useful program to come from your Center and why?

4) Do you have any advice for securing funds to support a center?

5) UHD faculty teach a 4/3 load and often take on a tremendous responsibilities with service in addition to producing our scholarship. How might we sustain faculty interest and participation?

We then conducted phone conversations with the directors. The conversations revolved around these questions. Directors also forwarded questions to others vital to their center's operations.

#### CANVAS OF UHD FACULTY

We gathered two sets of data to determine current attitudes and practices regarding teaching excellence at UHD. First, we conducted focus groups comprised of faculty members from each college. Second, we reviewed the findings from the High Impact Practices (HIP) Faculty Survey.

#### **College Level Focus Groups:**

In an effort to investigate the best practices here at UHD and to understand the needs of the faculty as articulated by them, the members of the Teaching Excellence Task Force hosted Focus Groups for each of the colleges at the University of Houston – Downtown: College of Business, College of Humanities and Social Sciences, College of Public Service, College of Sciences and Technology, and University College. These focus groups were held during the week of April 2, 2012. The members of the Task Force were assisted by Lea Campbell, Director of Academic Assessment, in documenting the focus groups through audio recording and transcription.

The members of the task force developed a protocol that provided key background information, core questions, and follow-up probes in order to ensure that each focus group was conducted in a consistent manner. (See Appendix A)

Separate idea to note: There is an ongoing concern about teaching evaluations – student opinion surveys but that is the work of another group. In other words, we believe this is outside the scope of this effort.

#### **HIP Survey Results:**

In an attempt to make the best use of work currently in progress and our contacts on other university committees where we are also serving, we made a proposal to Dr. Gene Preuss, the Chair of the High Impact Practices Committee. We asked for permission to examine the faculty responses to the survey of High Impact Practices. In doing so we made a connection between best practices and high impact practices. This connection is relevant as history shows us that the two have many common elements and have, at times, been referred to as a single element of good teaching. We understand that there may be other best practices in teaching here at UHD that those who completed the survey might not have self-defined as "high impact." At the University of Houston – Downtown we define High Impact Practices (HIPs) based upon the 2009 UHD Presidential Leadership Committee vision statement and associated work:

High-Impact Practices are active learning strategies that have had documented results in encouraging students to engage in their education through investing more time and energy into their studies, increased interaction with faculty, staff and peers, exposing them to diversity, and have led to increased student retention and persistence. Examples include student research, capstone courses, learning communities, internships, service learning, collaborative projects, first-year seminars, and writing intensive courses.

### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **REVIEW OF BOOKS AND BIBLIOGRAPHIES**

The thirty-page bibliography that is an addendum to this report offers a recent collection of materials on promoting effective instruction in higher education and establishing an effective program to foster that development. It is offered here as an example of the research available. It comes from the 2010 edition of *A Guide to Faculty Development*, eds. Kay J. Gillespie and Douglas L. Robertson, originally published in 2002 and significantly updated in the current edition. That text is a publication originally sponsored by the Professional and Organizational Development Network in Higher Education which is an association of higher education professionals who focus on issues related to teaching and learning (podnetwork.org). *A Guide to Faculty Development* is a comprehensive collection of articles divided into three sections, one of which, "Establishing and Sustaining a Faculty Development Program" would be especially useful to any successful effort at establishing a program for teaching excellence.

Other collections include Improving College Teaching: Strategies for Developing Instructional Effectiveness by Maryellen Weimer, published in 1990. Weimer has published numerous collections on teaching in higher education, with her most recent publication, Inspired College Teaching : a Career-long Resource for Professional Growth, appearing in 2010. Improving Teaching and Learning: A Whole Institution Approach by Vaneeta-marie D'andrea and David Gosling offers similar material to the collections listed above; the similarities and differences are instructive, however, because these authors are based in the UK and thus, offer an interesting trans-national perspective.

Numerous for-profit entities have emerged in the past decade and offer resources and assistance to institutions. These companies have proliferated as assessment efforts and other political dynamics have made universities willing to spend funds on instructional development. These entities can offer useful support and suggestions for institutions; however, they should be thoroughly vetted before engaging. Some, such as POD Network, are not exactly "for-profit" and offer many genuine services for individual faculty and institutions. Others, such as Faculty Development Associates (developfaculty.com) make clear that their goal is to serve clients "with an array of services to improve the accountability outcomes of their instructional programs." While the apparent leader of that entity has published several useful books on and for adjunct instructors, (adjunctsuccess.net; Best Practices for Supporting Adjunct Faculty; Success Strategies for Adjunct Faculty) the "resources" listed on the webpage appear to be a random and somewhat outdated list of superficial tips for teaching. This is in juxtaposition to the extensive list of more credible sources available through the PODNetwork. All serious research on faculty development programs warns readers of problems with credibility when "accountability" is the primary aim of any consultant, program, or institution as it is with entities such as Faculty Development Associates. For example, see Argyris, Chris. "Double-Loop Learning, Teaching, and Research." Academy of Management, Learning and Education 1.2 (2002); Elmore, Richard. "The Problem of Capacity in the (Re)Design of Educational Accountability Systems." Rebell and Wolff eds. NCLB at the Crossroads: Reexamining the Federal Effort to Close the Achievement Gap; and "The Problem of Stakes in Performance-Based Accountability Systems." Fuhrman and Elmore. Redesigning Accountability Systems for Education.

Professional organizations such as the Association for the Study of Higher Education (ASHE), American Association of Colleges and Universities, (AAC&U), the Texas Faculty Development Network (texasfdn.org), Texas Learning Object Repository (txlor.org), and the professional development modules supported by Texas Professional Development (txprodev.org), a service of The Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, offer useful information and access to important research as well.

Given the large amount of research available, what follows is a brief list of some of the themes that emerged in our review of this research.

#### Program Development

- Repeatedly, one reads that a successful teaching excellence program is run by faculty for purposes articulated by them. While all stakeholders should be consulted, the goals and structure of any program must be a result of extensive deliberations with faculty. It is the faculty who should "own" such a program.
- Decisions for a particular form of faculty development programs must be based on an institution's culture. Steps should be taken to articulate that culture in order to give the program an opportunity to succeed.
- Faculty advisory groups can be a part of any structural option. These groups can be structured in different ways and appointed by different bodies. The structure and the appointment should be governed by the specific institution's culture and a guided by efforts to increase the group's credibility with faculty.
- Funding is, of course, an important issue. The range of funding for programs varies widely across the country. Significantly, expectations for specific outcomes must be commensurate with funding levels.

#### **Program Structure**

- Much of the research literature is discipline specific. A consistent theme in many articles is the importance of disciplinarity in instructional development.
- Part-time faculty need to be a part of any institutional program and they can have different needs than full-time faculty.
- One of the most common forms of faculty development seems to be a college teaching seminar for new instructors that lasts for one semester.

#### **Role of Research**

- Instructional development is a field of study and any attempt at faculty development in instruction must engage the field seriously.
- Our colleagues in the UK and Canada seem to be very active in establishing institutional efforts to promote teaching effectiveness and their work has a lot to offer us.

#### PRELIMINARY REVIEW OF RESEARCH ON TEACHING EXCELLENCE

Though our charge was not to articulate teaching excellence we conducted a preliminary review of the research on teaching excellence. This should not be construed as comprehensive, only as something to build on as we continue with this project. We identified 12 publications, from non-profit research councils and organizations and researchers in higher education and the scholarship of teaching and learning. We summarized their general findings pertinent to our charge below:

#### What characterizes teaching excellence?

Definitions of teaching excellence were drawn from psychological theories of teaching and learning that account for social, political and economic contexts of higher education.

- **Preparedness:** Teaching excellence requires using problem-solving and transferable skills such, as both strategies for pedagogy and as a skills for students to practice in your classes; (Skelton et al., 2002; Skelton 2007). The literature stresses being well-prepared and –versed in the subject matter (Wygal and Stout, 2011).
- *Clear Standards:* Teaching excellence includes setting high standards and clear, fairly difficult but achievable expectations for students to stretch toward and achieve; providing meaningful learning assistance without providing answers (Wygal and Stout, 2011). Clarity—unambiguous presentation skills, high quality explanations—is key (Allan, Clarke and Jopling, 2009).

Dimensions of setting solid academic expectations include focusing on high standards of output, communication of expected outcomes, clarity in standards and assessment, appropriate workload level, activity that challenge and exercise critical thinking (Allan, Clarke and Jopling, 2009).

• *Real-World Connections:* The literature recommends making lessons relevant to the real world by using actual applications such as case studies; engaging students' critical and creative thinking skills; revising teaching approach to help improve student development and learning (Wygal and Stout, 2011).

Other literature recommends establishing relevance of lessons to real-life; challenging students to deal with misconceptions; encouraging group interaction; developing curricula and resources that reflect a command of the field; and participating in scholarly activities that have influenced and enhanced learning and teaching (Devlin and Samarawickrema, 2010).

- **Self Reflection:** The literature discussed the importance of teachers monitoring and assessing their own present and past performance. They disseminate their knowledge to others, and they invite others to review their performance and share in their knowledge of teaching practices (Wygal and Stout, 2011).
- *Materials and Methods:* Teaching quality management includes focus on teachers' individual qualities, quality of teaching materials and classroom and environmental support, and teaching processes (Chen et al., 2012). Valuing and using new technology where appropriate in teaching also emerged as a theme (Skelton et al., 2002; Skelton 2007). Excellent teaching is the result of both planning in the beginning of a course and dynamic adjustments of teaching content as you teach the course (Chen et al., 2012).

Scaffolding learning is encouraged. Dimensions of scaffolding include providing varied ways to teach content, anticipating misconceptions, appropriate pacing, high level of engagement, well organized and structured sessions, effective and timely feedback, encouragement of independent learning, encouragement of active learning, effective and sympathetic guidance (Allan, Clarke and Jopling, 2009).

Other literature recommends displaying enthusiasm about subject matter and providing active classroom activity; designing classes where activities and assessment are consistent with and necessary for achieving learning outcomes; planning lessons and providing feedback; monitoring student workload; covering fundamentals, even if less content is covered; valuing learning; and providing a variety of learning tasks to engage students (Devlin and Samarawickrema, 2010).

• Individual and Cultural Support: Excellent teachers are attuned to multinational and multicultural dynamics of the classroom. Sensitivity includes reviewing, analyzing and incorporating information about cultural, ethnic and educational circumstances of all groups; encouraging that students participate in self-reflection exercises; and using strategies to enhance engagement and participation on the part of international or diverse cultural groups in the class (Henderson et al. 2010, Chen et al., 2012).

Some literature defines teaching excellence as involving reflection on and meeting the individual needs of students; understanding each student's strengths and weaknesses, and building from their baseline, encouraging them to adopt an active approach to learning (Skelton et al., 2002; Skelton 2007). Excellent teachers value communication with students and being available for students (Skelton et al., 2002; Skelton 2007).

Dimensions of a supportive learning environment include intellectual excitement, subject knowledge, respect for and interest in students, approachability, and recognition of diversity (Allan, Clarke and Jopling, 2009).

Other literature recommends teaching and curriculum designed that are focused on meeting students' needs; building empathetic relationships with students; providing assessment and feedback that foster independent learning; and respecting and supporting for the development of students as individuals (Devlin and Samarawickrema, 2010).

• **Relationship to Student Success:** Teaching excellence can be one in a combination of different dimensions in student learning and success, including support for learning from professionals other professionals such as librarians, advisors, technicians (Little and Locke 2008). Other factors also play a part, such as high entry standards, funding for programs, advising and facilities, and low student-to-staff ratio. Furthermore, research has shown that student learning and success may not require excellent teaching.

#### How do teaching centers and universities promote teaching excellence?

**Center Programming:** Centers use various methods to disseminate best practices (including workshops, guest speakers, conferences, etc.) (Skelton et al., 2002). Centers can offer assistance in identifying course scope, establishing and maintaining a course plan, developing course requirements, sharing strategies for maintaining those requirements, managing the classroom atmosphere, preparing and conducting evaluations, collecting improvement information, establishing teaching assets such as

libraries of portfolios and other resources, encouraging and sharing teaching innovations, and suggesting how to track results of changes (Chen et al. 2012).

Universities can also encourage teaching excellence by improving the quality and variety of teaching evaluation; making teachers a priority by increasing commitment of resources and funds and demonstrating respect for faculty; protecting faculty time by increasing the size of faculty or decreasing course loads; supporting faculty development activities including faculty-run teaching centers; improving the infrastructure for teaching such as state-of-the-art technology and resources for more faculty-faculty and faculty-student interaction; providing effective rewards for teaching; understanding the responsibility of students (such as expecting more by way of attendance, community participation, university-wide grade standards, and student responsibility in learning); recognizing teaching as a multifaceted activity; supporting intellectual community; and clarifying the institutional mission and educational goals in terms of rank and promotion guidelines and institutional mission (Frost and Teodorescu, 2001).

**Rewarding Excellence:** Centers of Teaching Excellence in higher education offer teaching fellowships, grants for research (mostly practical, action research) (Skelton et al., 2002). Institutions are encouraged to reward teaching excellence (Hammer et al. 2010), including awards where alumni nominate candidates, where faculty nominate candidates, and where students award candidates (Hammer et al. 2010). The reviews listed awards based on type of teaching (lab, writing, lecture, etc.), longevity of tenure (an award for junior faculty, an award for senior faculty, etc.) and other means by which to aid in retention, promotion of best practices, and morale. Reviews also described funding for awards coming from a variety of sources, including department, colleges, programs, university.

**Funding:** Teaching excellence initiatives, including centers, must enjoy consistent, sustained support in order to thrive and effect change (Chen et al. 2012). They should provide abstractions of teaching practices and leave implementation details to instructors. They should provide roadmaps with clear steps to help teachers understand teaching excellence and implement these practices toward excellence.

Centers of Teaching Excellence in higher education can seek and earn local and national grants from departments of education and foundations with education as foci. Most of these grants are framed as research grants, thereby requiring a higher standard of data collection from and assessment of resulting programming. These granting bodies recommend not only tracking participation levels and satisfaction with center programming, but also efforts to elevate and advance higher education teaching and learning practice and research as a field (Skelton et al., 2002).

#### How is teaching excellence evaluated?

**Teaching portfolios** have been used to help improving teaching practices (Murphy and MacLaren, 2009). The strength of portfolios lies in their ability to keep accounting of a broad archive of data over a longer period of pedagogical practices. Portfolios yield variations of "high quality teaching" across disciplines; they can help interpret teaching practices in context. Debates linger as to whether they can be used for summative purposes such as tenure and promotion without detracting from their potential to stimulate reflection about teaching in formative assessment. Portfolio assessments should allow teachers the freedom to learn from weaknesses and experiment in their teaching. Portfolios should encourage critical reflexivity on what you teach and how you teach it.

**Peer review** has also been used as a means of formative and summative assessment (Hubball and Clarke, 2011; Hammer et al. 2010). Peer review encompasses everything from class visitation to examination of course syllabi and lecture plans. Here, again, care must be taken to prevent the

potential misuse, misunderstanding, tensions and conflation between formative and summative approaches. Peer review requires appropriate resourcing, including recognition for a faculty reviewer's time, expertise and training costs; explicit procedures, including rationale, objectives, guiding principles and a clear sense of criteria (such as scholarship, accuracy, integrity, transparency, diversity, credibility, usefulness, command of subject matter, representativeness of recent developments in the field, preparedness, relationship between goals / objectives, student engagement strategies, among others). Peer review also brings with it scheduling difficulties. Technology such as intranet software, video conferencing, and email can help facilitate peer review. Both enlisting internal and external reviewers comes with difficulties, including unfamiliarity with particular challenges of teaching at a given institution or within a particular discipline; politics and power differentials between evaluators and instructors; disruptions and negative influence on professional relationships; and limitations of the accuracy and scope of singular course visitations.

**Student evaluations** can be an indication, but research suggests it should not be the only or primary measure of teaching effectiveness. Guidelines for using them include using identical evaluations for every course or faculty member, providing guidance to faculty for interpreting the results, ensuring that administration understands the limitations and proper use of evaluations, ensuring that students understand the importance and use of evaluations, following prescribe routines for administering the evaluations, and limiting how much of teaching assessment that student evaluations constitute (alongside teaching portfolios and peer review) (Hammer et al. 2010).

### SURVEY OF OTHER UNIVERSITIES

We contacted five universities and only two gave a complete response that we were able to include. The directors at Austin Peay State University and California State University at San Bernardino were enthusiastically responsive and could be considered as a resource as we proceed. Both indicated that they wanted to keep in touch with UHD. Representatives at University of Central Oklahoma, University of Texas – Brownsville, and William Paterson University of New Jersey did not respond to our queries, but should be contacted again as we move forward.

#### AUSTIN PEAY STATE UNIVERSITY

The answers below are written per the flow of conversation and grouped by question topic.

#### I. Dr. Loretta Griffy, director of the Title III Center for Teaching and Learning at APSU

1) What kind of advice might you have for building a center such as yours? Are there tips, recommendations, or words of caution?

A center must couch all of its offers in terms of service and support to the faculty. The center at APSU is extremely receptive to every request they receive from faculty. The center partners with individuals, departments, and colleges. If a dean does ask a faculty member to attend events at the center to strengthen her or his pedagogy, the center works to make it as positive an experience as possible, allowing the person to pick from their services and assuring the faculty that they can accommodate any needs a professor might have.

2) How have you measured the success of your programs? What kinds of metrics are used to demonstrate that you've met your goals/outcomes?

Dr. Griffy wishes they had an official transcripting system. Such a system would allow the center to create an e-dossier for a faculty's tenure file, it would help with SACS reaffirmation (push one button and produce what SACS wants).

#### 4) Do you have any advice for securing funds to support a center?

Regarding how the center came to be: An APSU administrator hired a consulting firm, Munzel & Associates, and paid them a lot of money to apply for the Department of Education's Title III Strengthening Institutions Grant. The team secured the grant, which is a five-year grant at 2 million dollars. The grant pays for the Center. Dr. Griffy has a "mixed reaction" to Munzel & Associates.

When the grant runs out, Dr. Griffy will lobby to continue it and have it funded just as well by the university's administration.

3) What is the most successful or useful program to come from your Center and why?

The center runs a very successful Revitalize Academic Success Initiative (RASI) that financially compensates faculty (~\$4400.00) for redesigning courses that traditionally have low student success. The faculty propose how they will redesign the courses and submit them to a selection committee that comes out of the Faculty Senate. Dr. Griffy maintains that faculty should own the decision making process on which proposals will be implemented. The center provides the rubric and the committee added to it and made its own selection. Winners evaluate their success by looking at grade distributions and generating a report. There are two objectives of RASI grants: to improve what goes on inside of classrooms and to improve **how** students succeed. The faculty work to make courses more receptive to students.

A Faculty Leadership Program, to which faculty apply and are selected into by the Dean's Council, exposes faculty to all parts of the campus and teaches them about how the campus works. The goal of this program is to create a better-informed faculty who can lead more effectively from a position they already hold. It improves faculty service. Nine faculty members participate each semester. The cohort meets all day, every Tuesday. They receive one course-release. They are exposed to distance education, accounting, finance, legislature, governing boards, student groups, financial aid, etc. Again, the goal is to really learn about the campus. The president holds a kick-off lunch at the beginning of the semester and the cohort becomes the president's support team. It teaches faculty how to develop programs and it teaches them to be mindful of bureaucracy. The faculty love it.

Similar to this is the Faculty Teaching Program (selected by a standing committee of faculty members) that brings together a cohort of faculty for a semester to target and select ten teaching and learning strategies. Participants develop and run a workshop for other faculty on their chosen strategy. The first meeting faculty bring their teaching philosophies and, at the end of the program, produce new ones. Participants receive a course release.

### 5) UHD faculty teach a 4/3 load and often take on a tremendous responsibilities with service in addition to producing our scholarship. How might we sustain faculty interest and participation?

Dr. Griffy stresses that the process of trying to improve is what is most valuable.

Dr. Griffy has been most often frustrated when the center holds a campus workshop run by a paid speaker and very few faculty attend. Her solution to this is to offer stipends to colleges to come up with what faculty want and when they want it and then the Center manages the details. Rather than have the Center decide what faculty might be interested in, she suggests having faculty generate their own kinds of events, speakers, and workshops.

#### II. Dr. Gray Kane, the Faculty Development Analyst for the Center, APSU

## 1) What kind of advice might you have for building a center such as yours? Are there tips, recommendations, or words of caution?

From the start, our course-redesign and faculty-development initiatives have been voluntary, but we've had to emphasize our center's presence, and the faculty needed a sense of ownership in order to develop trust. To increase the faculty's familiarity with our center and staff, we co-sponsor with other campus organizations whenever possible, predominantly by contributing manpower.

3) What is the most successful or useful program to come from your Center and why?

Through Academic Affairs, we conduct New Faculty Workshops to build relations with new faculty. To improve faculty buy-in, we created the RASI Senate Committee to select course-redesign proposals for funding, as well as the Faculty Development Planning Committee, under whose advisement we devise the ten teaching strategies that faculty-development events target each year. These tactics helped us achieve enough campus buy-in to roll out the first faculty-development program, the Faculty Leadership Program (FLP), which Academic Affairs and Distance and Extended Education co-sponsor.

I do believe the prestige of and word-of-mouth from the FLP have developed campus interest in our next program, the Faculty Teaching Program, which we plan to alternate each year with a Faculty Advising Program.

2) How have you measured the success of your programs? What kinds of metrics are used to demonstrate that you've met your goals/outcomes?

As for our assessments: We measure the success of course redesigns predominantly on the rate of D's, F's, and W's; the success of faculty-development events via pre-/post-tests, annual number of faculty attendees, and our ability to address all ten teaching strategies; and the success of the Faculty Leadership Program through a pre-/post-program assessment and an evaluation of each day's activities (we additionally plan to track FLP graduates' initiatives and other leadership activities). I suspect we'll assess the Faculty Teaching Program via a hybrid of the course-redesign and FLP's assessment strategies: the participants' DFW rates, a pre-/post-program assessment, and evaluation of each day's activities.

#### CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY AT SAN BERNARDINO

#### III. Dr. Kim Costino, Director of the Teaching Resource Center at CSUSB

Dr. Costino is in her first year as the director of the center, and her remarks are followed by the text of an email sent from Dr. Rowena Santiago who directed the center for 9 years)

1) What kind of advice might you have for building a center such as yours? Are there tips, recommendations, or words of caution?

A center must be faculty-driven. This is the most important aspect of developing a center. The center must answer to Faculty Senate. It should not be seen as a remedial teaching center and it should not be an arm of the administration. It should have an advisory board of cross-disciplinary faculty.

Faculty Senate created their center and the Provost uses state funds to fund it. The director of the center works with provost and faculty senate.

The center should be seen as a space to have conversations and to mobilize faculty.

The center must get build new faculty orientation into the center.

The director must be seen as an ally of the faculty.

2) How have you measured the success of your programs? What kinds of metrics are used to demonstrate that you've met your goals/outcomes?

Their center has no systematic evaluations. They conduct needs assessments to find out what faculty want more of.

5) UHD faculty teach a 4/3 load and often take on a tremendous responsibilities with service in addition to producing our scholarship. How might we sustain faculty interest and participation?

The center should provide faculty with course buy outs (course releases) and provide stipends to travel to any conference that has panels or workshops on teaching.

The center should send thank yous to all who come to any event.

The provost, deans, and departmental chairs should advocate for participation in the center's programs and activities. The center should be seen as a valuable tool that helps lead to tenure.

#### IV. Dr. Rowena Santiago, the first director of CSUSB's Teaching Resource Center:

1) What kind of advice might you have for building a center such as yours? Are there tips, recommendations, or words of caution?

What helped greatly when the Center got started were the following:

- Prior to opening, a needs assessment survey of faculty was conducted at department meetings (got a response rate of 70+%, faculty gave input on how they teach their particular discipline, established visibility for the center)

- Provost attended the first workshops and opening events, cancelled all administrative meeting on that day so that deans, chairs and faculty could attend

- Align programs with the campus' strategic goals, and develop a conceptual framework for Center's programs (why are you offering these programs? where do they lead to? what meaning will it give to faculty who participate in these programs? how will it help develop one's teaching agenda, as junior faculty, as mid-career faculty, as senior faculty?) The conceptual framework for TRC was to support teaching improvement and innovation by providing programs that will take faculty from good teaching to teaching excellence, to scholarly teaching and finally to scholarship of teaching and learning. (See http://trc.csusb.edu/pdf/TchgStages03.pdf.)

2) How have you measured the success of your programs? What kinds of metrics are used to demonstrate that you've met your goals/outcomes?

Surveys were conducted as part of WASC accreditation

Participation in TRC programs were reported by faculty in RPT documents

Best measure of success: faculty oral dissemination of their teaching innovations, projects, etc. (public reporting)

#### 3) What is the most successful or useful program to come from your Center and why?

Teaching grants – generates a very "live" teaching culture. Faculty gets stipend or release time, faculty learn more about their own teaching and their understanding of how students learn, dissemination (through poster presentations, or newsletter, or web posting) supports scholarship and accountability, getting a teaching grant is valued for RPT - a win-win situation for all.

#### 4) Do you have any advice for securing funds to support a center?

When the Provost saw the impact of the Center on faculty and academics, he increased the budget without being asked.

Securing funding should not be part of the mission of the Center. Else, this will imply that it is not important because there is no funding. How (and how much) a center is funded speaks volume on what kind of priority and value the campus gives to teaching, its teaching culture, and faculty development.

5) UHD faculty teach a 4/3 load and often take on a tremendous responsibilities with service in addition to producing our scholarship. How might we sustain faculty interest and participation?

- Have programs for junior faculty, for mid-career faculty and senior faculty and for all

- Be aware of teaching needs and be on the cutting edge regarding teaching trends

- Whenever possible and without sacrificing quality, make it easy for faculty to participate in Center programs (for example, develop templates for reports, provide refreshments so they don't have to worry about stopping by the store to get something to eat which in turn will require extra time or make them change their minds about going to the workshop or the event)

- take time to acknowledge faculty participation (letters of thanks, letters of grant awards, cc chairs/deans)

# CANVAS OF UHD FACULTY: A CONCISE SUMMATION

#### COLLEGE LEVEL FOCUS GROUPS

Short of providing a verbatim list of faculty responses, we cannot do justice to the range of ideas, levels of concern, and profound engagement of faculty at the focus groups. Each college had active, sometimes impassioned discussions on teaching methods, a teaching program and improving student success at UHD. The commitment was impressive. The ideas noted below may have emerged in the respondents' discussion of one or more of the questions. We included the idea under the question where it appeared the most frequently.

#### Question 1: What should be the goals of a teaching development program?

#### Levels of interaction and support

Take into consideration the university as a whole, but also the needs of the colleges and disciplines; whatever development program we have needs to consider these three levels; university, colleges, and disciplines. In effect, this idea recognizes that as faculty we have commonalities, but we also have needs in our areas of specialization.

#### Incentives

Will there be some recognition for faculty for their participation in high level activities related to best practices in teaching, i.e. those who share their practices in seminars, those who re-design course curriculum, and so on? General idea – within the best teaching practices program do we offer incentives such as grants to support faculty?

#### Acclimation

We need orientation for new faculty on managing relationships, managing classroom, managing system, university, college/discipline, and professional commitments; optional peer observation; information and ideas to help us address the needs of our non-traditional students (see university definition); information and ideas about how to address different class modalities (It is understood that we have the TTLC; the best practices program could help faculty with issues related to content and understanding and teaching strategies.); information and ideas about distance learning – online and hybrid related to best practices and specific teaching and learning strategies.

We need to gather information on new best practices relevant to both traditional and distance modes of learning. This should be a place where faculty can reflect on what worked and what did not work. We need to develop university-wide understanding and share information and ideas about maintaining academic rigor within a culture of student success

Some specifics on what should be offered in a best practices teaching program

Cross discipline collaborations

Development of appropriate assessment tools

Workshops on best pedagogical strategies

Mentorship - a non-judgmental forum

A place to seek help/ideas/feedback

Looking forward – opportunities for national recognition

Host symposiums on issues related to best practices in teaching

Base for research and data collection for projects and studies on teaching

Produce a newsletter/journal

# Question 2: What teaching/learning issues would faculty most like to explore with colleagues?

#### Active learning

Faculty expressed a desire to explore ways to incorporate active learning and experiential activities into their curriculum design in order to engage students. They wanted to learn ways to help students think about and practice what they have learned. (See Appendix C for definition)

#### Critical thinking

Faculty expressed a desire to learn more about critical thinking, noting that critical thinking would be a part of our core components and linking the idea of critical thinking with that of active learning. (See Appendix C for definition)

#### Individuation / Differentiation

Faculty expressed a need to learn ways to accommodate students who are diverse in their intellectual preparedness or capability within a single class group, to meet the needs of students while upholding the standards of the institution, to develop a deeper understanding of cultural diversity as it relates to academic behavior, and to provide a platform so students who excel academically may demonstrate their expertise. (See Appendix C for definition)

#### Motivational Strategies

Faculty expressed a desire to learn how to best motivate students and to help students identify what sort of effort might be needed by them in order to be successful in a particular course. (See Appendix C for definition)

#### Cross Disciplinary Pedagogical Issues

Faculty wanted a forum for sharing ideas within and across disciplines about pedagogical issues, to gain new perspectives on teaching from one another, and to contribute to and/or use a data-base of best practices that includes specific examples. (See Appendix C for definition)

#### Question 3: What type of structure would faculty be most comfortable with?

The center or program should be faculty driven but there needs to be a structure used to manage the center

Although not directly stated it seems that there is a need for the program to have a designated director; someone in a leadership role

The center should be faculty driven and the structure used to manage the center should preserve faculty oversight; however the center should receive an appropriate level of support to ensure its effectiveness and success

We must make effective use of human resources

Faculty are highly motivated to investigate best practices and to share ideas about best practices with one another and with the profession through publication; there is concern that this be made a priority and that time devoted to these efforts should be respected and considered as part of the work of the faculty.

# Question 4: Do you have anything you have experienced or you can identify as a best teaching practice?

Consensus that faculty want to learn from one another and share (See examples from HIP survey, below.)

Associated with this program/center should be a repository or database of best practices and faculty connections to practices.

Faculty want to be able to conduct searches for particular practices and then to discuss and/or collaborate with others who have the same interest or who have some knowledge to share.

#### Question 5: What do you wish we had here at UHD to support or improve your teaching?

Structure – ability to re-structure a classroom to meet best practice models, i.e. for seminar discussion, small group work, and so on

Showcase of faculty and student projects

Database of potential grants for teaching tools

Database of faculty and area of research interest, teaching expertise, resources

#### HIP SURVEY RESULTS

#### Pertinent Ideas from the HIP Faculty Survey

As we began to look at the data from the faculty responses to the HIP survey we sought information about the best practices that are currently being used by the faculty at UHD. (See Appendix B for complete list of items of importance from the HIP Faculty Survey.) Here are our impressions of the most important ideas and issues that emerged from short answer responses by faculty:

• There are a large number of responses on writing intensive experiences. Faculty who provided these short answer responses wrote about planning, verbal, written, structured, and peer feedback, opportunities for revision, proof writing assignments, rubrics, primary and

secondary sources, writing portfolios, and various genres of writing, including observation, description, reflection, analysis, synthesis, meta-cognitive essays, and critical research. For the most part these responses do not elaborate on the teaching aspect of the writing intensive experience or the affect upon students. It would be interesting to look at the teaching in writing intensive experiences here at UHD.

- There are a large number of responses about student collaboration. Faculty who provided these short answer responses wrote about students working together to prepare group reports, conduct case studies, to research a topic and present the results to peers and/or members of the industry or profession, to develop various types of discipline-specific plans, to engage in a role play or simulation experience, to conduct a risk assessment, to form a company, to lead class discussions, and to engage in problem solving. It would be interesting to look at ways that faculty at UHD design collaborative experiences: how the students engage with one another, how the expectations are conveyed to students, and how the student work is assessed individually and collaboratively.
- There are a large number of responses about students engaged in service learning experiences that appear to be specifically designed to help them think further about the discipline. Faculty who provided these short answer responses wrote about students engaged in service learning by providing communication audits for non-profit organizations, assisting at service centers or schools for homeless and indigent individuals, working for an institution and writing about the experience, creating and donating goods to an agency, tutoring or providing support for a special needs child in a school or community setting, and contributing a specified number of hours to working in the community. It would be interesting to know more about how faculty conceive of and organize these discipline-based service learning experiences and how they help students reflect upon these experiences.

We can begin to identify some ideas in terms of specific teaching practices being used by faculty at UHD. They are:

- Create opportunities for students to apply what they are learning through the design of guided observations and case study experiences
- Enable students to learn/experience the processes used by those who practice in the discipline
- Set up situations in which students role play or engage in simulations (Note, this is done face-to-face and online in courses here at UHD)
- Engage students in the work associated with the profession
- Enhance the cultural awareness of students
- Create situations in which students work to refine and practice various means of communicating
- Establish the relevancy of the action or practice through authentic experiences or other means
- Design research and/or writing experiences that reflect course objectives and/or practices of the profession

- Create experiences in which students interact/network with members of the community who are practicing in a particular field
- Assist students in creating a body of work and reflecting on that work
- Design scaffolded experiences for students so they engage in a sequence of learning events that are both recursive and additive in terms of the level of difficulty.
- Engage students in faculty/student collaboration research, service, publication, other
- Design guidelines and provide feedback to students which will enable students to achieve self-efficacy, a high level of understanding and/or quality of work
- Design rubrics which help students understand how their product has been viewed and how they may assess their own work
- Use questioning in the classroom and/or help students self-question to enhance understanding and guide observations
- Design learning and reporting experiences so students may segment larger projects into manageable units

#### Notable findings from the HIP Survey

- HIPs are currently taking place at UHD across all colleges and most departments
- HIPs are occurring every semester (Fall, 2010 to present Spring, 2012) with small increases over time, excluding summer when fewer courses were offered
- HIPs are occurring in all delivery modes with approximately three-quarters in the face-to-face mode
- Persons conducting HIPs report positive outcomes (i.e., all means above 4.0 on 5 point scale) for students including investing more time and effort, experiencing meaningful interactions, engaging people different from themselves, increasing achievement of course/program outcomes and retention
- Respondents indicate that approximately 7,557 students participated in HIPs from Fall 2010 to Spring 2012. It is important to note that this number may count the same student(s) across multiple courses and/or semesters

# EXTERNAL FUNDING POSSIBILITIES

<b>Opportunity Name</b>	Description	Grant	Deadlines
		Amounts	
NEA Foundation Grants	For public school educators to enhance teaching and learning. Learning and Leadership grants to support high quality professional development. For practicing K-12 public school teachers, higher education faculty and staff at public colleges and universities. Requires close measurement / assessment of outcomes. Apply <u>online</u> .	\$5000 for groups (must include partner information)	February 1 June 1 October 1
	May not be used to pursue degrees, pay indirect costs, grant administration fees or salaries, travel costs or conference fees for more than one person, stipends, lobbying, or religious purposes.		
Frees Foundation	Awards grants in the field of	None	September 1, 2012
Grant	community service, education, health and housing. Emphasis on program and organizations benefiting women, children, youth, and families. Info <u>online</u> .	indicated	
Department of Education: Strengthening Institutions Program (SIP)	Help institutions of higher education (IHEs) become self sufficient and expand their capacity to serve low-income students by providing funds to improve and strengthen institution's academic quality, institutional management and fiscal stability. Priorities include increasing postsecondary success, technology, improving productivity. Would require center to conduct research. Requires close measurement / assessment of outcomes. Info <u>online</u> .	\$400,000 max	April 23, 2012
Brown Foundation	Distributes funds for public charitable purposes, principally for support, encouragement and assistance to education, the arts	None indicated 2011 grantees ranged from	Four months before funds are required.

Opportunity Name	Description	Grant Amounts	Deadlines
	and community service. Info online.	\$3,000 to \$600,000	
Dell Foundation Human Capital Grant	Seeks to increase the number of exceptional educators, administrators and specialized district support staff through investments in programs that attract, retain, develop and manage talent in the education sector. Info <u>online</u> . Requires close measurement / assessment of outcomes.	None specified	January 15 Online submission
	Might require collaboration with and willingness to train secondary educators.		
Lumina Foundation	Seeks to increase awareness of the benefits of higher education, improve student access to and preparedness for college, improve student success in college, and improve productivity across the higher education system. Info online.	\$50,000- \$250,000	Letters of inquiry through the end of September
Ed Rachal Foundation	For the benefit of charitable, scientific, literary or educational purposes within the state of Texas.	Under \$1,000,000	None indicated Online application
Cullen Foundation	Supports programs in Texas, primarily in Houston area. Supports a wide variety of charitable activities, including education, health, arts, and public service programs. Info <u>online</u> .	None specified	None
Andrews Foundation	Offers philanthropic support and development in child and family welfare, higher education, and other target areas. Info <u>online</u> .	None specified	October 1 to December 31
Alkek Foundation	Provides support for charitable, religious, scientific (medical), cultural and educational organizations and programs serving the people of the state of Texas. Preferences for research and education-related projects that will pay lasting dividends in terms of new discoveries and improved quality of life. Info <u>online</u> .	\$1,000 to \$6,250, 000 for prior grantees	No deadlines Rolling

Opportunity Name	Description	Grant Amounts	Deadlines
Herzstein Foundation	Supports charitable efforts that offer individuals opportunities for advancement through education and enrichment of the human spirit, and contribute to the quality of life in our society. Info online.	\$2,500 to \$1,000,000 for prior grantees	None specified
Kemper Trust	support and promote quality education and human services programming for underserved populations. Special consideration is given to charitable organizations that serve the people of Grayson County, Texas. Info <u>online</u> .	None specified	March 1 June 1 September 1 December 1
Lubrizol Foundation	Awards financial support to educational institutions and charitable organizations in communities primarily within the United States where Lubrizol operates major facilities. Info <u>online</u> .	None specified	None Rolling
Owen Family Foundation	Primary interest include education, health, huma services and Christian/Judeo religions. Info <u>online</u> .	None specified	January 5 May 1
McKee Foundation	Aids, provides, furthers, assists and makes contributions, gifts, grants, or other forms of financial assistance exclusively to charitable corporations, organizations or associations organized and operating within the United States in the categories of civic, cultural and religion; education, literature, and science; hospitals; medical, medical research and mental health; rehabilitation and welfare; youth activities; and community funds. Awards contributions, gifts and grants in education, literature, science, civic, cultural and religious organizations, hospitals, youth activities, and community funds, to name a few. Info <u>online</u> .	\$3,000 to \$60,000 for prior grantees	December 15
Priddy Foundation	Supports programs in human services, education, the arts, and health, which offer significant potential for individual	\$1500 to \$1,300,000 for prior grantees	None specified

<b>Opportunity Name</b>	Description	Grant	Deadlines
	_	Amounts	
	development and community		
	improvement. Info <u>online</u> .		
Richardson	Supports educational, health,	None	January 15
Foundation	human service, and cultural	specified	
	organizations. Info <u>online</u> .		
Powell Foundation	Places priority on organizations	None	Board meets twice a
	and programs that serve residents	specified	year in the spring and
	in Harris, Travis and Walker		in the fall. Submission
	counties, principally in the fields		required at least two
	of education, the arts, health and		months prior to a
	conservation. Info <u>online</u> .		meeting for
			consideration.
Hamman	Gives assistance to students in the	\$3000 to	None specified
Foundation	pursuit of higher education	\$100,000 for	
	through scholarships; to promote	prior grantees	
	the arts; to fund qualified		
	institutions in the furtherance and		
	development of scientific projects;		
	to aid churches, associations and		
	conventions of churches in the		
	advancement of religion; to aid colleges and universities in both		
	operating and capital needs; to		
	provide aid for the needy; and to		
	assist hospitals, medical colleges		
	and research institutions for the		
	study, treatment and cure of		
	disease. Info <u>online</u> .		
Elkins Foundation	Has sponsored programs at UHD	None	None specified
	in prior years. Address <u>online</u>	specified	

# RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations for program structure:

The following recommendations for the structure of a teaching excellence program at UHD are based on the research this task force has performed, focus groups in each of UHD's academic colleges, and our knowledge of UHD's institutional culture. While we have attempted to be thoughtful and thorough, we recognize that the details of structuring such a program are legion. *Thus, we recommend that a committee of the Faculty Senate be charged with reviewing this report and, in the fall 2012 semester, take the first steps to establish such a program.* An advisory board (described below) could then be constituted by spring 2013. Decisions for revising the structure of this program should, at least in the first two years of a program rest exclusively with the Faculty Senate.

- 1. The program should be one entity that serves the entire university. This will be a place where faculty can work at the discipline, college, or university level, as well as across disciplines, departments, and colleges.
- 2. The program should be housed with the Faculty Senate and responsible to it.
- 3. An advisory board made up of two faculty members from each college should be constituted by the Faculty Senate and serve as a standing committee of the Senate. This board would work with a program director to establish priorities; communicate with faculty on issues related to the program; participate in the organization of workshops and other events; and investigate sources of funding.
- 4. For the first two years, the program should be led in-house by a faculty member who in addition, will teach one course per long semester. The Advisory Board would choose this person after soliciting applications for the position. After the initial two-years, an assessment should be made of the program by the Faculty Senate and changes in structure could be considered depending on the development of the program.
- 5. The program will develop and work through partnerships with both the TTLC and the Library in order to better provide guidance as to the types of resources (i.e. books, software, and expertise) needed to enhance teaching excellence at UHD.
- 6. The salaries and operating funds for the program, including those of both a director and webmaster, will be provided by the university. Supplemental funds will be sought through grants for additional programming, i.e. workshops and symposia; however, as that will take some time to develop, support for these events should be provided by the university for at least the first two years.
- 7. The program should model itself as an institute focused on developing a culture centered in the investigation, action, and dissemination of ideas about the best practices in teaching. This will be a place where faculty may collaborate to build upon and/or re-envision current practices in light of what we are learning in our practice and from new research.
- 8. The effectiveness of the program will be evaluated regularly using multiple points of assessment which should include both student and faculty focus groups.

#### Recommendations for the work of a teaching excellence program:

- 1. The program should provide a venue for all instructors at UHD, whether tenured, tenure track, lecturer, or adjunct for growth, collaboration, research, and discussion by offering a range of resources that respect and address differences in teaching styles and disciplinary pedagogy.
- 2. The activities of the program should be based on expressed faculty priorities communicated through the advisory board and which are commensurate with funding and levels of institutional support.
- 3. The program should provide enrichment to the initial orientation of new faculty provided by the university.
- 4. For new and continuing faculty, the program can provide mentoring and support while ensuring that new faculty are directed to resources to help them develop a useful familiarity with the programs, policies, and processes or our institution; discipline specific program outcomes; and the specific challenges of teaching in an urban commuter school with a substantial percentage of underprepared and untraditional students.
- 5. The program should provide considerable electronic resources, including archives of video presentations and workshops, online resources and articles.
- 6. The program should attempt to build creatively on already existing faculty expertise to foster collaboration and improve classroom success.
- 7. The program should strive to establish financial support and release time for faculty to develop new courses, revise old courses, and otherwise engage in specific pedagogical projects.
- 8. The program should involve faculty in scholarly and creative work based in teaching. This also should occur at all levels and potentially across disciplines, departments, and colleges.
- 9. The program should assist faculty in disseminating their research on teaching through preexisting peer reviewed journals, through an in-house newsletter, and eventually, through a journal based here, at the University of Houston – Downtown.
- 10. Engagement in the work of the institute should be voluntary in nature and should not be mandated as a result of faculty course evaluations or other measures.

#### REFERENCES

Allan J, Clarke K and Jopling M (2009). Effective Teaching in Higher Education: Perceptions of First Year Undergraduate Students. International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education. (21:3), 362-372.

Chen CY, Chen PC, and Chen PC (2012). Teaching quality in higher education: An introductory review on a process-oriented teaching-quality model. Total Quality Management. iFirst, 1-21.

Cohen J (2003). Documenting Teaching Excellence Within Peer Review of Teaching. Journalism & Mass Communication Educator (58:2) 115-118.

Devlin M and Samarawickrema, G (2010). The criteria of effective teaching in a changing higher education context. Higher Education Research & Development (29:2) 111-124.

Evers F, Hall S, Britnell J, Brockerhoff-Macdonald B, Carter L, Dawson D, Kerr D, Mighty J, Siddall G and Wolf P (2009). Faculty Engagement in Teaching Development Activities. Phase 1: Literature Review. Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario.

Frost SH and Teodorescu D (2001). Teaching Excellence: How Faculty Guided Change at a Research University. The Review of Higher Education (24:4) 397-415.

Hammer D, Piascik P, Median M, Pittenger A, Rose R, Creekmore F, Soltis R, Buildin A, Schwarz L, and Scott S (2010). Recognition of Teaching Excellence. American JOurnal of Pharmaceutical Education. (74:9) Article 164, 1-11.

Henderson RL, Antelo A, and St. Clair N (2010). Ethics And Values In The Context Of Teaching Excellence In The Changing World Of Education Excellence. Journal of College Teacing and Learning (7:3), 5-12.

Hubball H and Clark A (2011). Transformative Dialogues Journal (4:3) 1-32.

Kane R, Sandretto S, and Heath C (2002). Telling Half the Story: A Critical Review of Research on the Teaching Beliefs and Practices of University Academics. Review of Educational Research (72:2) 177–228.

Little B and Locke W (2008). Conceptions of excellence in teaching and learning and implications for future policy and practice. In: 21st Annual Conference of the Consortium of Higher Education

Researchers (CHER): CHER Annual Conference on 'Excellence and Diversity in Higher Education.

Meanings, Goals and Instruments', 11-13 Sept 2008, Pavia, Italy.

Murphy T and MacLaren I (2009). Teaching Portfolios and the Quality Enhancement Project in Higher Education. Educational Futures (2:1), 71-84.

Ramsden P (2008). The Future of Higher Education Teaching and the Student Experience. Swedish National Agency for Higher Education. 1-21

Skelton A (2007). Understanding 'teaching excellence' in higher education: a critical evaluation of the National Teaching Fellowships Scheme. Studies in Higher Education (29:4) 451-468.

Skelton A, Higgens R, Pass L, Woodward C, and Cartwright T (2002). Understanding 'teaching

excellence' in higher education: a critical evaluation of the National Teaching Fellowships Scheme. University of Sheffield School of Education.

Taylor I (2007). Pursued by Excellence: Rewards and the Performance Culture in Higher Education. Social Work Education (26:5) 504-519.

Wygal D and Stout D (2011). The Role of Continuous Improvement and Mentoring in the Pursuit of Teaching Effectiveness: Perspectives from Award-Winning Accounting Educators. The Accounting Educators' Journal (22), 33-44.

#### APPENDIX A

#### Teaching Excellence Task Force Focus Group Protocol

Background information for report

Participants in the focus groups will respond to five questions (see below focus group protocol). It is anticipated the focus groups will take approximately 50 minutes to 1 hour. During the focus groups, two members of the Teaching Excellence Task Force will either act as the facilitator or recorder. This will ensure that we accurately interpret and properly convey what is discussed in the focus groups. However, individual participants' names will not be associated with any comments. Also, the focus groups *will* be recorded electronically. This procedure will allow the records to be maintained anonymously as once the focus group is completed the records will not contain any identifying information. It should also be noted that participants will not be asked to give any information about themselves directly (unless they choose to offer such information). Rather, they will be asked to serve as subject matter experts to help us identify best practices and possible avenues for a teaching and learning center.

Focus group protocol

Thank you for coming today.

[Make Facilitator and Recorder introductions]

Background of Task Force

Our charge from Faculty Senate is to investigate best practices and successful models for faculty development for teaching excellence at urban commuter universities, including comprehensive Teaching and Learning Centers, and make a recommendation to the Faculty Senate regarding best practice models to be implemented at UHD.

In order to address the charge, the task force defined action sub-groups to examine the research on faculty development models, the best practices and successful models at urban commuter universities, and the best practices for teaching excellence that are occurring presently at the University of Houston – Downtown. We are asking you to serve as a subject matter expert on current best practices and to help all of us better understand what teaching-related services would improve teaching excellence at UHD.

In an attempt to make the best use of work currently in progress and of our contacts on other university committees where we are also serving, we examined the faculty responses to the High Impact Practices Survey. In doing so, we make a connection between "best practices" and "high impact" practices. This connection is relevant as history shows us that best practices and high impact practices have common elements and have, at times, been referred to interchangeably. While saying this, we acknowledge that there may be other "best practices" in teaching at UHD that were not included by respondents on the survey of "high impact" practices.

We hope this focus group will help us examine practices currently in place to understand about general elements and possible actions for encouraging teaching excellence.

#### Ground Rules

Before we begin, we need to set some ground rules. During our time together we will be taking notes and making an audio recording, but we will not be recording any names or other identifying information. The tapes will be kept in a locked cabinet in the Office of Assessment. They will be transcribed without using the names of the participants. For example, we will use a notation such as P1 to denote Participant 1. Furthermore, everything said in this room is confidential. We ask for candor in your responses and therefore it is imperative we respect everybody's confidentiality. Does everyone agree to keep our conversation totally confidential?

The remaining ground rule is that we hear from everyone. To get us started, we will go around the room. Please feel free to comment, especially to elaborate on the comments of others. Therefore, everyone is expected to talk and I ask that you monitor your airtime to make sure that everyone has roughly equal time!

We greatly appreciate you coming out today and sharing your thoughts with us.

Let us begin.

[Go around room for opener question]

Note to facilitator: We have included probes (follow-up questions) for some of the questions below. Probes are optional to ask, but can be helpful to have. They can help if facilitators need to direct (or redirect) the conversation. They can also help further explain the meaning of the main question (if necessary). Question One

What should be the goals of a teaching development program?

#### <u>Question Two</u>

What teaching/learning issues would faculty most like to explore with colleagues?

<u>Probe</u>

What areas of improvement in teaching should a teaching development program cover to best meet faculty needs and professional goals?

#### Question Three

What type of structure, i.e. arrangement of elements or organization, would faculty be most comfortable with (i.e. consultant, committee, staffed program, structured monthly meetings on best practices led by faculty volunteers, or some combination of these?

#### <u>Question Four</u>

Do you have anything that you have experienced or can identify that could be a best practice?

Follow up: If you don't mind, would you share it for the record so it can become part of the data?

#### <u>Question Five</u>

What do you wish we had here at UHD to support and/or improve your teaching? Follow up: Let's brainstorm for a moment; just throw out your ideas.

#### Probe:

Workshops? Guest speakers? Colloquiums? More teaching awards? Training and seminars on teaching? Resources on the scholarship of teaching and learning? Certificate programs? Informal classroom observations? Course design tutorials?

#### Closing

Are there any additional comments about anything we have discussed today?

Thank you for participating in this focus group. Your input has been very helpful. And, remember please keep what you have heard today completely confidential.

#### APPENDIX B

#### Pertinent Questions from the HIP Survey

Reviewing responses to "We also welcome information about any HIPs that may not conform to the categories or definitions below." *Responses to this point would enable us to collect data about other best practices at UHD.* 

Reviewing responses to "How would you describe this HIP?" and also the descriptions of the category "Other." Responses to these points will help us see the details of the experience for faculty and students. We may be able to see broad themes in best practices through an examination of this data.

Reviewing responses to "Please provide a brief description of this HIP and how you believe it affects students." Responses to these two points will enable us to gather more detailed information about the experience and will let us see how faculty perceive the "affect" of best practices.

Reviewing responses to "Using the response scale below, please indicate to what extent your HIP meets the following characteristics: example, increases students' retention and persistence to graduation; increases students' engagement and achievement of course and/or program learning outcomes, etc." Responses to this point may help us determine areas of need with regard to the affect or impact of the best practices currently underway at UHD.

An examination of these practices may lead us to some understandings about general elements and possible actions for a proposed Center of Teaching Excellence. More specifically:

- What are some practices that a number of us seem to be doing that could be examined further?
- What are the details/specifics of some of the best practices we are identifying, but not clarifying for one another? For example, survey respondents identify writing intensive experiences and student collaboration within a number of courses, but do not include details about how this is accomplished through "teaching"
- What are some best practices that are being used by a number of UHD faculty that might be shared by these faculty in presentations/workshops within a Center of Teaching Excellence?
- Have faculty respondents to the survey indicated best practices that they would like to investigate further?
- Could a proposed center house a database or repository of sorts that helps to catalogue current practices and the faculty leading these efforts in order to foster cross-collaboration.

#### APPENDIX C

#### **Definition of Terms**

Active learning (may also be referred to as student centered) is an approach that engages students in content through reading, writing, talking, listening, and reflecting. Teaching strategies for active learning include group discussion, problem solving, case studies, role plays, journal writing, and structured learning groups. Students may be involved in the learning strategies as an individual, in pairs, small groups, or through cooperative groups. The use of active learning in the classroom does not preclude the lecture format. The two may be used in conjunction with part of the class period being devoted to each aspect, e.g. students may listen to a lecture and then participate in a group discussion, role play, or structured learning group to enable them to reflect on the issues and internalize what they have learned.

**Critical thinking** involves the ability to thoughtfully consider problems and subjects that are within our realm of experiences through the use of logical reasoning and inquiry skills. Reading, writing, speaking, and listening can all be done critically or uncritically. Core critical thinking skills include observation, interpretation, analysis, inference, evaluation, explanation, and meta-cognition (or thinking about thinking). Critical thinking is a systemized way of thinking that can be utilized across academic disciplines to enable individuals to engage intellectually with content ideas and theory and then to effectively apply/use the content ideas and theory in relevant ways.

**Individuation/Differentiation** is an instructional approach or a way of thinking about teaching and learning rather than a set of strategies. The emphasis in this approach is on creating a balance between course content and the needs of an increasingly diverse student population. Effective differentiated instruction will be most successful when linked with a positive learning environment, well designed curriculum and assessment, and thoughtful classroom management. Teachers using this instructional approach will know both their content and their students. "A key element of differentiation is the modification of four curriculum-related elements – content, process, product, and affect – which are based on three categories of student need and variance – readiness, interest, and learning profile," (Tomlinson and Imbeau, 15). (Full citation: Tomlinson, C.A. & Imbeau, M.B. 2010. *Leading and managing a differentiated classroom*. VA: Association of Supervision and Curriculum Development)

**Motivational strategies** to enhance academic involvement are meant to help students see the relevance and authenticity of the academic activity and to attain the benefit from the activity. Strategies may be employed to: 1) motivate students to want to attain and maintain academic success, 2) to provide extrinsic motivation for students, 3) to identify and maintain intrinsic motivation for students, and 4) to motivate students to want to learn the content and skills that are being developed.

**Pedagogy** may be understood as the development of an understanding of instructional strategies. This understanding may occur through the study of the theories of pedagogy by those such as John Dewey, Paulo Freire, Gloria Jean Watkins (bell hooks), Jean Piaget, Lev Vygotsky, Henry Giroux, Peter McLaren, Maria Montessori, Pierre Bourdieu, and others.

#### APPENDIX D

	Books and Bibliographies	Reviews
Definition of Teaching Excellence	Faculty-run, faculty-tailored   Respect disciplinarity   Engage the discipline of instructional design and development	Recognizing students as individuals   Setting high standards and clear, challenging-but-achievable expectations   Designing courses to scaffold toward goals   Communicating and seeking feedback   Preparing and knowing subject matter currency   Relating lessons to real world   Inspiring enthusiasm and   Supporting active learning   Respecting cultural differences
Center Offerings	Ground programming in institutional culture Include part-time faculty Enlist faculty advisory groups Programming reach and outcomes depend on funding levels	Teaching fellowships Grants Workshops Guest speakers Conferences Course design help Teaching resources Recommendations for improving infrastructure
Assessment		Portfolios Peer review Student input

#### SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FROM LITERATURE REVIEW

	Austin Peay State	California State University-San
	University	Bernadino
Center Purpose /	Couch all offers in terms of	Faculty-focused and faculty-driven
Definition of Teaching	service and support to the	
Excellence	faculty	
Center Offerings	Revitalize Academic Success Initiative (RASI) that financially compensates faculty for redesigning courses	Teaching grants generate a very "live" teaching culture. Faculty gets stipend or release time, faculty learn more about their own teaching and their understanding of how students learn, dissemination.
	Faculty Leadership Program exposes faculty to all parts of the campus and teaches them about how the campus works	
	Faculty Teaching Program brings together a cohort of faculty for a semester to target and select ten teaching and learning strategies	
Funding	Hired a firm to write grant for the Department of Education's Title III Strengthening Institutions Grant.	Don't seek funding. Administration should support teaching development and excellence as integral part of the university.
	Lobby administration for permanent funds	Provost saw the impact of the Center on faculty and academics and increased the budget without lobbying.
Assessment Advice	Benefit of a transcription system for e-dossiers of faculty's tenure files to help with SACS reaffirmation	Surveys Participation numbers Course redesigns failure and withdrawal rates Faculty pre- and post-tests Annual number of faculty attendees Range of programming and topic coverage
Advice and Tips	Improve is what is most valuable	Provide faculty with course releases and stipends to travel to conferences on teaching
	Have faculty generate events, speakers, and workshops.	Conduct a needs assessment survey of faculty to tailor programming accordingly
	Offer voluntary initiatives	
	Emphasize center's presence	

# SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FROM OTHER UNIVERSITIES

# SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FROM UHD FACULTY

	UHD Focus Groups	HIP Survey Results
Purpose of Teaching	Provide opportunities for	
Excellence Center	interaction and support at three levels; university, colleges, and disciplines	
	Offer incentives such as grants to support faculty for their participation in high level activities related to developing best practices in teaching	
	Provide acclimation for new faculty	
	Provide a forum for the study strategies for addressing the needs of non-traditional students and maintaining rigor in a culture of student success	
	Provide a forum for the study of best practices relevant to both traditional and distance modes of learning	
Center Offerings	Cross discipline collaborations	
	Development of appropriate assessment tools	
	Mentorship – a non-judgmental forum where faculty can provide and/or seek ideas, assistance, and feedback	
	Workshops and symposiums on best pedagogical strategies hosted by UHD faculty	
	Base for research and data collection for projects and studies on teaching	
	Base for the production of a newsletter and/or journal	

Assessment Suggestions	Use the results of the college level focus groups as a base and then conduct further focus group sessions at periodic intervals. Note: this type of evaluation will likely be required should we be	
	awarded federal or other grants to develop the program	
Emerging Best Practices at UHD	Active learning Critical thinking Individuation/Differentiation Motivational Strategies Cross Disciplinary Pedagogical Issues	Writing intensive experiences Service learning experiences Guided observations Simulations Mentorship, internship, observation, or interaction with the profession Assist students in creating and reflecting on a body of work Faculty/Student collaboration – research, publication, presentation Design of guidelines and rubrics Design of scaffolded experiences for students

# APPENDIX E

## End Bibliography A Guide to Faculty Development (2<sup>nd</sup> edition), 2010 Kay Gillespie, Douglas L. Robertson, and Associates San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Publishers

The end bibliography for *A Guide to Faculty Development* (2<sup>nd</sup> edition) is offered as a scholarly tool to accompany this POD sponsored book. The bibliography provides an alphabetical listing of all individual chapter references. This listing was prepared in April, 2010.

# Α

- AAHE Assessment Forum (1997). Learning through assessment: A resource guide for higher education. L. F. Gardiner, C. Anderson, & B. L. Cambridge (Eds.). Washington, DC: American Association of Higher Education.
- About the Commission (2008) Retrieved January 30, 2009, from http://www.ed.gov/about/bdscomm/list/hiedfuture/about.html
- Academic Services, Graduate Division. UC Santa Barbara. Certificate in college and university teaching. Retrieved November 15, 2008, from http://www.graddiv.ucsb.edu/academic/CCUT/require/index.htm
- Active Learning with Powerpoint™. (May 9, 2008). Retrieved June 19, 2008, from University of
  - Minnesota, Center for Teaching and Learning web site http://www1.umn.edu/ohr/teachlearn/tutorials/powerpoint/
- Adams, K. (2002). What colleges and universities want in new faculty. Washington, DC: Association of American Colleges and Universities.
- Adams, M., A., Bell, L. A., & Griffin, P. (Eds.) (1997). *Teaching for diversity and social justice*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Adams, M. A., Bell, L. A., & Griffin, P. (Eds.). (2007). *Teaching for diversity and social justice* (2nd ed). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Adams, M. Blumenfeld, M.J., Castañeda, R., Hackman, H.W., Peters, M.L. & Zúñiga, X. (Eds.). (2000). Readings for diversity and social justice: An anthology on racism, anti-semitism, sexism, heterosexism, ableism, and classism. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Adams, M. A., & Love, B. J. (2005). Teaching with a social justice perspective: A model for faculty seminars across academic disciplines. In M. L. Ouellett (Ed.), *Teaching inclusively: Resources for course, department & institutional change in higher education* (pp. 587 - 619). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.
- Aguirre Jr., A., Hernandez, A., & Martinez, R. O. (1994). Perceptions of the workplace: Focus on minority women faculty. *Initiatives*, 56(3): 41-50.
- Albright, M. J. (1988). Cooperation among campus agencies involved in instructional improvement. In E. C. Wadsworth (Ed.), A handbook for new practitioners (pp. 3-8). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.
- Aldrich, C. (2005). Learning by doing: A comprehensive guide to simulations, computer games, and pedagogy in e-learning and other educational experiences. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Alger, R. J. (1999). When color-blind is color-bland: Ensuring diversity in higher education. *Stanford Law & Policy Review, 10*(2), 191-204.
- Algert, N.E., & Stanley, C.A. (2007). Conflict management. Effective Practices for Academic Leaders, 2(9), 1-16.
- Allen, M. J. (2004). Assessing academic programs in higher education. Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Allison, D. H., & Deblois, P. B. (2008). Top-Ten IT Issues. EDUCAUSE Review, 43 (3), 36-61.
- Altman, H. B., & Cashin, W. E. (1992). Writing a syllabus. (Idea Paper No. 27). Manhattan, KS:

Kansas State University, Center for Faculty Evaluation and Development.

- Ambrose, S. (1995). Fitting programs to institutional cultures: The founding and evolution of the university teaching center. In P. Seldin & Associates, *Improving college teaching* (pp. 77-90). Stillwater, OK: New Forums Press.
- American Association of Community Colleges (n.d.). Students at Community College. Retrieved October 31, 2008, from http://www2.aacc.nche.edu/research/index.htm
- Anderse, M., & Collins, P. H. (2000). Introduction. In M. Anderse & P. H. Collins (Eds.), Race, class, and gender: An anthology (4th ed., pp. 1-11). New York, NY: Wadsworth.
- Anderson, J. A. (1995). Merging effective models of diversity with teaching and learning in the curriculum. Raleigh, NC: North Carolina State University.
- Anderson, J. A. (2002). Race in American higher education: Historical perspectives on current conditions. In W. Smith, P. Altback & K. Lomotey (Eds.), *The racial crisis in American higher education* (pp. 3-22) (Rev. ed.). Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Anderson, L.W., & Krathwohl, D.R. (Eds.) (2001). A taxonomy for learning, teaching, and assessing. New York, NY: Longman.
- Angelo, T. A., & Cross, K. P. (1993). Classroom assessment techniques: A handbook for college teachers (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Angelo, T., & Cross, P. (1993). The Teaching Goals Inventory. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from University of Iowa, Center for Teaching web site
- http://fm.iowa.uiowa.edu/fmi/xsl/tgi/data\_entry.xsl?-db=tgi\_data&-lay=Layout01&-view Ards, S. B., & Woodward, M. (1997). The road to tenure and beyond for African American political scientists. *Journal of Negro Education*, 66(2), 159-171.
- Arneil, S., Holmes, M., & the University of Victoria. (2008). HotPotatoes [Computer software]. Victoria, BC, Canada: Half-baked Software, Inc. Retrieved August 3, 2008, from http://www.halfbakedsoftware.com/
- Arneil, S., Holmes, M., & the University of Victoria (2008). Quandary [Computer software]. Victoria, BC, Canada: Half-baked Software, Inc. Retrieved September 14, 2008, from http://www.halfbakedsoftware.com/quandary.php
- Arreola, R. A. (2007). Developing a comprehensive faculty evaluation system (3<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Asante, M. (1991). Multiculturalism: An exchange. The American Scholar, 60(2), 267-76.
- Astin, A. W. (1993). What matters in college? Four critical years revisited. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Astin A. W., and others (1974). Faculty development in a time of retrenchment. New Rochelle, NY: Change Magazine.
- Astin, A. W., Comstock, C., Epperson, D., Greeley, A., Katz, J., & Kaufman, R. (1974). Faculty development in a time of retrenchment. Washington, DC: The Group for Human Development in Higher Education and Change.

Astin, H. (1997). Race and ethnicity in the American professoriate, 1995–96. Los Angeles; University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA), Higher Education Research Institute.

- Atomic Learning, Inc. (2008). Atomic learning. Retrieved August 3, 2008, from http://movies.atomiclearning.com/k12/home
- Austin, A. E (1990) Faculty cultures, faculty values. In W. G. Tierney (Ed.), New directions for institutional research, No 68. Assessing academic climates and cultures (pp. 61-86). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Austin, A. E. (2002). Creating a bridge to the future: Preparing new faculty to face changing expectations in a shifting context. *Review of Higher Education*, 26 (2), 119-144.
- Austin, A. E. (2002). Preparing the next generation of faculty: Graduate education as socialization to the academic career. The Journal of Higher Education, 73 (2), 94-122.
- Austin, A. E. (2003). Creating a bridge to the future: Preparing new faculty to face changing expectations in a shifting context. *Review of Higher Education*, 26(2), 119-144.

- Austin, A. E., & McDaniels, M. (2006). Preparing the professoriate of the future: Graduate student socialization for faculty roles. In J. C. Smart (Ed.), *Higher education: Handbook* of theory and research, Vol. XXI (pp. 397-456). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.
- Austin, A. E., & Rice, R. E. (1998). Making tenure viable: Listening to early career faculty. American Behavioral Scientist, 41 (5), 736-754.
- Austin, A. E., Sorcinelli, M. D., & McDaniels, M. (2007). Understanding new faculty: Background, aspirations, challenges, and growth. In R. Perry & J. Smart (Eds.), *The scholarship of teaching and learning in higher education: An evidence-based perspective* (pp. 39-89). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.

## В

- Bach, D. J., Barnett, M. A., Fuentes, J. D., & Frey, S. C. (2006). Promoting intellectual community and professional growth for a diverse faculty. In S. Chadwick-Blossey & D. R. Robertson (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol. 24. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development* (pp. 166-182). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Baldwin, R. G., & Chang, D. A. (2006). Reinforcing our "keystone" faculty. Liberal Education, 92(4), 28-35.
- Baldwin, R. G., DeZure, D., Shaw, AI, & Moretto, K. (2008). Mapping the terrain of mid-career faculty at a research university: Implications for faculty and academic leaders. *Change*, 40 (5), 46-55.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychological Review, 84 (2) 191-215.
- Banks, J. A. (1995). Multicultural education: Historical development, dimensions, and practice. In J. A. Banks & C. A. M. Banks (Eds.), *Handbook of research on multicultural education* (pp. 3-24). New York, NY: Macmillan.
- Banta, T. W. (2007). Can assessment for accountability complement assessment for improvement? *Peer Review*, 9(2), 9–12.
- Banta, T.W., & Associates (2002). *Building a scholarship of assessment*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Banta, T. W., Lund, J. P., Black, K. E., & Oblander, F. W. (1996). Assessment in practice: Putting principles to work on college campuses. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Barnes, L. B., Agago, M. O., & Coombs, W. T. (1998). Effects of job-related stress on faculty intention to leave academia. *Research in Higher Education*, 39(4): 457–469.
- Barnett, R. (1997). *Higher education: A critical business*. Buckingham, United Kingdom: SRHE/Open University.
- Barnett, R. (2000). *Realizing the university in an age of supercomplexity*. Buckingham, United Kingdom: SRHE/Open University.
- Baron, L. (2006). The advantages of a reciprocal relationship between faculty development and organizational development in higher education. In S. Chadwick-Blosssey & D. R. Robertson (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol. 24. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development* (pp. 29-43). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Barr, R. B., & Tagg, J. (1995). From teaching to learning: A new paradigm for undergraduate education. *Change*, 27(6), 13-25.

Bauman, G. L., Bustillos, L. T., Bensimon, E. M., Brown III, M. C., & Bartee, R. D. (2005). Achieving equitable educational outcomes with all students: The institution's roles and responsibilities. Washington, DC: American Association of Colleges and Universities.

Beach, A. L., Henderson, C., & Famiano, M. (2008). Co-teaching as a faculty development model. In L. B. Nilson & J. E. Miller (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol 26. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development* (pp.199-216). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Becher, T., & Trowler, P. R. (2001). Academic tribes and territories: Intellectual enquiry and the cultures of disciplines (2nd ed.). Buckingham, England: The Society for Research into Higher Education and Open University Press.
- Bell, L. A., Love, B. J., Washington, S., Weinstein, G. (1997). Knowing ourselves as social justice educators. In M. Adams, L. A. Bell, & P. Griffin (Eds.), *Teaching for diversity and social justice* (2nd ed., pp. 381-394). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Bergquist, W. H. (1992). The four cultures of the academy: Insights and strategies for improving leadership in collegiate organizations. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Bergquist, W.H. (1994). Unconscious values within four academic cultures. In E. C. Wadsworth (Ed.), To improve the academy: Vol. 13. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 349-372). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.
- Bergquist, W. H. (1995) *Quality through access, access with quality.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Bergquist, W., & Armstrong, J. (1986). *Planning effectively for educational quality*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Bergquist, W., & Pawlak, K. (2008). *Engaging the six cultures of the academy*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Bergquist, W. H., & Phillips, S. R. (1975). Components of an effective faculty development program. *Journal of Higher Education*, 46 (2), 177-212.
- Bergquist, W. H., & Phillips, S. R. (1975). A handbook for faculty development, Vol. I. Washington, DC: Council for the Advancement of Small Colleges.
- Bergquist, W. H., & Phillips, S. R. (1977). A handbook for faculty development, Vol. II. Washington, DC: Council for the Advancement of Small Colleges.
- Berk, R. A. (2006). Thirteen strategies to measure college teaching. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Biggs, J. (2003). *Teaching for quality learning at university: What the student does* (2nd ed). Buckingham, United Kingdom: SRHE/Open University Press.
- Blackburn, R. T., & Lawrence, J. H. (1995). Faculty at work. Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins Press.
- Blackwell, J. E. (1996). Faculty issues: Impact on minorities. In C. Turner, M. Garcia, A. Nora, & L. Rendon (Eds.), *Racial and ethnic diversity in higher education* (pp. 315-326). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon

Bledstein, B. (1976). The culture of professionalism: The middle class and development of higher education in America. New York, NY: Norton.

- Boice, R. (1991). Quick starters: New faculty who succeed. In M. Theall & J. Franklin (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 48. Effective practices for improving teaching (pp. 111-121). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Boice, R. (1992). The new faculty member: Supporting and fostering professional development. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Boice, R. (2000). Advice for new faculty members: Nihil nimus. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

Bok, D. (2006). Our underachieving colleges: A candid look at how much students learn and why they should be learning more. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

- Boone, L. E., & Kurtz, D. L. (2005). Contemporary marketing. Mason, OH: Thompson South-Western.
- Border, L.L.B. (2002, December). The Socratic portfolio: A guide for future faculty. PSOnline, XXV (4), 739-743.
- Border, L.L.B. (2006). Two inventories for best practice in graduate student development. Journal on Excellence in College Teaching 17 (1& 2), 739-743.
- Border, L.L.B. (Ed.) (2008). Studies in graduate and professional student development. Stillwater, OK: New Forums.
- Borton, T. (1970). Reach, touch, and teach. New York, NY. McGraw Hill.

Bothell, T. W., & Henderson, T. (2003). Evaluating the return on investment of faculty development. In C. M. Wehlburg & S. Chadwick-Blossey (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 22. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development

(pp. 52–70). Bolton, MA: Anker.

5

Bowman, M. A. (1993). The new faculty developer and the challenge of change. In D. L. Wright & J. P. Lunde (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 12. Resources for faculty,

instructional, and organizational development (pp. 247-259). Stillwater, OK: New Forums. Boyer, E. (1990). Scholarship reconsidered: Priorities of the professoriate. Princeton, NJ: The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching.

Bransford, J.D., Brown, A.L., & Cocking, R.R. (1999). How people learn: Brain, mind, experience, and school. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

Bridges, W. (2003). Managing transitions: Making the most of change. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Cambridge, MA: Da Capo Press.

Brinko, K. T., & Menges, R. J. (1997) Practically speaking: A sourcebook for instructional consultants in higher education. Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Brookfield, S. (1995). Becoming a critically reflective teacher. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. Brown, D. (Ed.) (2003). Developing faculty to use technology: Programs and strategies to enhance teaching. Bolton, MA: Anker

Burdick, D. (2007). An outline of POD's history. Nederland, CO: POD Network in Higher Education.

Burgsthaler, S. E., & Cory, R. C. (2008). Universal design in higher education: From principles to practice, Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.

Burnstad, H. & Hoss, C. (2004). Launching your staff, program, and organizational development program. Kansas City, KS: National Council for Staff, Program and Organizational Development.

### С

Cambridge, B. (Ed.) (2004). Campus progress: Supporting the scholarship of teaching and learning. Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education.

Cambridge, B., Kahn, S., Tompkins, D., & Yancey, K. (Eds) (2001). Electronic portfolios: Emerging practices in student, faculty, and institutional learning. Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education.

Carroll, S., Seymour, E., & Weston, T. (2007). The student assessment of their learning gains. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from University of Wisconsin-Madison, Wisconsin Center for Educational Research web site: http://www.salgsite.org/

Center for the Advancement of Engineering Education. (2008). CAEE webpage. Retrieved November 18, 2008, from http://www.engr.washington.edu/caee/overview.html

Center for the Integration of Research, Teaching, and Learning. Project background. Retrieved November 18, 2008, from http://www.cirtl.net/

Center for Teaching. (July 17, 2008). Vanderbilt Center for Teaching podcast. Retrieved August 3, 2008, from Vanderbilt University web site http://blogs.vanderbilt.edu/cftpodcast/

Centra, J. A. (1976). Faculty development practices in U. S. colleges and universities. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service.

Chambers, R. (2002). Participatory workshops: A sourcebook of 21 sets of ideas and activities. London, England: Earthscan.

Chang, D. & Baldwin, R. G. (2008). Creating time and space for faculty reflection, risk-taking, and renewal. The Department Chair, 19 (1), 1-3.

Chesler, M. A. (1998). Planning multicultural organizational audits in higher education. In M. Kaplan & D. Lieberman (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 17. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 171-202). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

- Chesler, M. A., & Young, Jr., A. A. (2007, Fall). Faculty members' social identities and classroom authority. In M. Kaplan & T. T. Miller (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning: No. 111. Scholarship of multicultural teaching and learning (pp.11-19). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Chesler, M. A., Lewis, A., & Crowfoot, J. (2005). Challenging racism in higher education: Promoting justice. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Chickering, A., & Ehrmann, S. (1996). Implementing the seven principles: Technology as lever. AAHE Bulletin, October, 3-6.
- Chism, N. V. N. (Ed.) (1987). *Employment and education of teaching assistants. Readings from a national conference*. Columbus, OH: The Ohio State University.
- Chism, N. V. N. (1998). The role of educational developers in institutional change: From the basement office to the front office. In M. Kaplan (Ed.), *To improve the academy: Vol. 17. Resources for faculty, instructional and organizational development* (pp. 141-153). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.
- Chism, N. V. N. (2006). POD connections: Faculty development theories. *NEFDC Exchange*, 17(1), 8.
- Chism, N. V. N.(2007). Peer review of teaching (2nd ed). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Chism, N. V. N. (2008, April). A professional priority: Preparing educational developers. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New York, NY.
- Chism, N.V.N., Fraser, J. M., & Arnold, R. L. (1996). Teaching academies: Honoring and promoting teaching through a community of expertise, *New directions for teaching and learning: No. 65. Honoring exemplary teaching* (pp. 25-32). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Chism, N. V. N., Lees, N. D., & Evenbeck, S. (2002). Faculty development for teaching innovation. *Liberal Education*, 88(3), 34-41.
- Chism, N. V. N., & Szabo, B. (1997). How faculty development programs evaluate their services. Journal of Staff, Program, and Organizational Development (15)2, 55–62.
- Chism, N. V. N., & Szabo, B. (1997). Teaching awards: The problem of assessing their impact. In D. DeZure & M. Kaplan (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol. 16. Resources for faculty, instructional and organizational development* (pp. 181-199). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.
- Chism, N. V. N., & Whitney, K. (2005). It takes a campus: Situating professional development efforts within a campus diversity program. In M. Ouellett, (Ed.), *Teaching inclusively: Resources for course, department and institutional change in higher education* (pp.34-45). Stillwater, OK: New Forums,
- Cialdini, R. (1993). Influence: The psychology of persuasion. New York, NY: William Morrow.
- Clark, D. J., & Bekey, J. (1979) Use of small groups in instructional evaluation. Insight into teaching excellence, 7 (1), 2-5. Arlington, TX: University of Texas at Arlington.
- Cohen, A. & Brawer, F. (2003). The American community college (4<sup>th</sup> ed.) San Francisco, CA: Jossev-Bass.
- Cohen, M. W. (2003, November). *How's it going? Reflecting on our work as new faculty developers.* Preconference workshop at the annual meeting of the Professional and Organizational Development Network in Higher Education, Denver, CO.
- Cohen, P. A. (1980). Effectiveness of student-rating feedback for improving college instruction: A meta-analysis. *Research in Higher Education*, *13* (4), 321-341.
- Cohen, P. A.(1981). Student ratings of instruction and student achievement: A meta-analysis of multisection validity studies. *Review of Educational Research*, *51* (3), 281-309.

Colbeck, C. L., O'Meara, K.A., Austin, A. E. (Eds.) (2008). New directions for teaching and learning, No. 113. Educating integrated professionals: Theory and practice on preparation for the professoriate. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

7

Coleman, T. (1990). Managing diversity at work: The new American dilemma. Public Management, 70(10), 2-5.

Combs, T. T., & Lucke, J. (2003, March). "It's our weekend!". A faculty academy promotes teaching excellence and community-building with part-time faculty. Poster session presented at the American Association for Higher Education 2003 National Learning to Change Conference, Washington, DC

Community College Survey of Student Engagement (2007). Committing to student engagement: Reflections on CCSSE's first five years. Retrieved October 15, 2008 from The Community College Leadership Program, University of Texas, http://www.ccsse.org/publications/2007NatIRpt-final.pdf

Cones, H. H., III, Noonan, J. F., & Janha, D. (Eds.). (1983). New directions for teaching and learning, No. 16. Teaching minority students. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Cook, C. E. (2001). The role of a teaching center in curricular reform. In D. Lieberman & C. Wehlburg (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 19. Resources for faculty, instructional and organizational development (pp. 217-231). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Cook, C. E., Kaplan, M., Nidiffer, J., & Wright, M. (2001, November). Preparing future facultyfaster. AAHE Bulletin, 54(3), 3-7.

Cook, C. E., & Sorcinelli, M. D. (2002, June). The value of a teaching center. Retrieved November 21, 2008, from http://www.podnetwork.org/faculty\_development/values.htm

Cook, C. E., & Sorcinelli, M. D. (2005). Building multiculturalism into teaching development programs. In M. Ouellett (Ed.), *Teaching inclusively: Resources for course, department* and institutional change in higher education (pp. 74-83). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Cook, C. E., Wright, M. C., & O'Neal, C. (2007). Action research for instructional improvement: Using data to enhance student learning at your institution. In D. R. Robertson and L.B. Nilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 25. Resources for faculty, instructional and organizational development (pp.123-138). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Cooper, J. E., & Chattergy, V. (1993). Developing faculty multicultural awareness. An examination of life roles and their cultural components. In D. Wright & J. Povlacs Lunde (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 12. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 81-95). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Cora-Bramble, D. (2006). Minority faculty recruitment, retention and advancement: Applications of a resilience-based theoretical framework. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved* 17(2): 251-255.

Council of Graduate Schools (n.d.). Preparing future faculty. Retrieved November 16, 2008, from http://www.cgsnet.org/Default.aspx?tabid=226

Council of Graduate Schools. (2008). The preparing future faculty program. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from <u>http://www.cgsnet.org</u>

Cox, M. D. (2003). Proven faculty development tools that foster the scholarship of teaching in faculty learning communities. In C. M. Wehlburg and S. Chadwick-Blossey (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 21. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 109-142). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Cox, M.D., & Richlin, L. (Eds.) (2004). New directions for teaching and learning, No. 97. Building faculty learning communities. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Crawley, A. L. (1995). Faculty development programs at research universities: Implications for senior faculty renewal. In E. Neal & L. Richlin (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol. 14. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development* (pp. 65-90). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Cross, K. P., & Steadman, M. H. (1996) Classroom research: Implementing the scholarship of teaching. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass. Irea V.M. & Costing D /2

D'Andrea, V-M., & Gosling, D. (2005), Improving teaching and learning in higher education: A whole institution approach. London, England: McGraw Hill.

D'Avanzo, C. (2009, Spring). Supporting faculty through a new teaching and learning center Peer Review, 11 (2), 22-25.

Davidson, C. I., & Ambrose, S. A. (1994). The new professor's handbook. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Dawkins, P. W., Beach, A. L., & Rozman, S. L. (2006). Perceptions of faculty developers about the present and future of faculty development at historically black colleges and universities. In S. Chadwick-Blossey & D. R. Robertson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol 24. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 104-120). Bolton, MA: Anker.

de Janasz, S. C., & Sullivan, S. E. (2004). Multiple mentoring in academe: Developing the professional network. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 64, 263-283.

del.icio.us: social bookmarking [Computer software]. (n.d.). Retrieved June 19, 2008, from http://del.icio.us/

Diamond, R. M. (1984). Instructional support centers and the art of surviving: Some practical suggestions. In L. C. Buhl & L. A. Wilson (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol. 3. Resources for faculty instructional, and organizational development* (pp. 49-57). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Diamond, R. M. (1988). Faculty development, instructional development, and organizational development: Options and choices. In E. C. Wadsworth (Ed.), A handbook for new practitioners (pp. 9-11). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Diamond, R. M. (2002). Faculty, instructional, and organizational development: Options and choices. In K. H. Gillespie, L. R. Hilsen, & E. C. Wadsworth (Eds.), A guide to faculty development: Practical advice, examples, and resources (pp. 2-8). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Diamond, R. M. (2005). The institutional change agency: The expanding role of academic support centers. In S. Chadwick-Blossey & D. R. Robertson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol 23. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 24-37). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Doodle [Computer software]. (2008). Retrieved October 8, 2008, from http://www.doodle.ch/main.html

### Е

D

Eagan, K. (2007). A national picture of part-time community college faculty: Changing trends in demographics and employment characteristics. In R. L. Wagoner (Ed.), New directions for community colleges, No. 140. The current landscape and changing perspectives of parttime faculty (pp. 5-14). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Easton, L.B. (2005). Power plays: Proven methods of professional learning pack a force. Journal of Staff Development 26(2), 54-57.

Eble, K. (1972). Professors as teachers. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Eble, K. E., & McKeachie, W. J. (1985). Improving undergraduate education through faculty development. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Eddy, P. L. (2005). Faculty development in community colleges: Surveying the present, preparing for the future. *Journal of Faculty Development 20*(3), 143-152.

Entwistle, N., & Ramsden, P. (1983). Understanding student learning. London, England: Croon Helm.

Erickson, G. (1986). A survey of faculty development practices. In M. Svinicki, J. Kurfiss, & J. Stone (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 5. Resources for Faculty, Instructional, and Organizational Development (pp. 182-196). Stillwater, OK: New Forums. Erickson, G. (1986). A survey of faculty development practices. In M. Svinicki, J. Kurfiss, & J. Stone, To improve the academy: Vol 5. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 182-196). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

9

Evers, F., & Wolstenholme, J. (2007). Integrating knowledge, skills, and values into the curriculum development process at the University of Guelph-Humber. In J. Christensen Hughes & P. Wolf (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 112. Curriculum development in higher education (pp. 83-91). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

### F

Feagin, J.R. (2006). Systemic racism: A theory of oppression. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Feldman, K. A. (2007).Identifying exemplary teachers and teaching: Evidence from student ratings. In R. P. Perry & J. C. Smart (Eds.), The scholarship of teaching and learning in higher education: An evidence-based perspective (pp. 93-129). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer
- Felten, P., Kalish, A., Pingree, A., & Plank, K. (2007). Toward a scholarship of teaching and learning in educational development. In D. R. Robertson & L. B. Nilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol 25. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 93-108), Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Fendrich, L. (2007, June 8). A pedagogical straitjacket. The Chronicle of Higher Education, p. B6.
- Ferren, A. S., & Geller, W. W. (1993). The faculty developer's role in promoting an inclusive community: Addressing sexual orientation. In D. L. Wright & J. Povlacs Lunde (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol. 12. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development* (pp. 97-108). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Fink, L. D. (2002). Establishing an instructional development program: An example. In K. H. Gillespie, L. R. Hilsen, & E. C. Wadsworth (Eds.), A guide to faculty development: Practical advice, examples, and resources (pp. 35-44). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Fink, L.D. (2003). Creating significant learning experiences. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass,

- Fleming, J.A. (Ed.) (1997). New directions for adult and continuing education, No. 76. New perspectives on designing and implementing effective workshops. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Fox, H. (1994). Listening to the world: Cultural issues in academic writing. Urbana, IL: National Council of Teachers of English.
- Fox, H. (2001).When race breaks out: Conversations about race and racism in college classrooms. New York, NY: Peter Lang.
- Francis, J. B. (1975). How do we get there from here? Program design for faculty development. Journal of Higher Education, 46(6), 719-732.
- Franklin, J. L., & Theall, M. (1990). Communicating ratings results to decision makers: Design for good practice. In M. Theall & J. L. Franklin (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 43. Student ratings of instruction: Issues for improving practice (pp. 75-96). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Frantz, A. C., Beebe, S. A., Horvath, V. S., Canales, J., & Swee, D. E. (2005). The roles of teaching and learning centers. In S. Chadwick-Blossey & D. R. Robertson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 23. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp.72-90). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Frederick, P. (2007, October). Sixteen reflections from 30 years of faculty development. Paper presented at the Professional and Organizational (POD) Network Annual Conference, Pittsburgh, PA. Retrieved March 5, 2008, from <u>http://ctl.conncoll.edu/smallcollege/index.html</u> Frederick, P., & James, M. (2007). "Heritage rocks": Principles and best practices of effective intercultural teaching and learning. In D. R. Robertson & L. B. Nilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 25. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational

development (pp. 172-188). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Friedman, M. (Ed.) (1973). Facilitating faculty development. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. Friedman, T. (2008). Hot, flat, and crowded. New York, NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

## G

Gaff, J. C. (1975). Toward faculty renewal: Advances in faculty, instructional, and organizational development. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Gaff, J. G., & Simpson, R. D. (1994). Faculty development in the United States. Innovative Higher Education, 18(3), 167–176.

- Gaff, J. G., Pruitt-Logan, A. S., Sims, L. B., & Denecke, D. (2003). Preparing future faculty in the humanities and social sciences: A guide for change. Washington, DC: American Association of Colleges and Universities, Council of Graduate Schools.
- Gainene, J., & Boice, R. (Eds.) (1993, Spring). New directions for teaching and learning, No. 49. Building a diverse faculty. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Gappa, J. M., Austin, A. E., & Trice, A. G. (2007). Rethinking faculty work: Higher education's strategic imperative. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Gappa, J. M., & Leslie, D. W. (1993). The invisible faculty: Improving the status of part-timers in higher education. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Gappa, J. M., & Leslie, D. W. (1997). Two faculties or one? The conundrum of part-timers in a bifurcated work force. New Pathways Working Paper Series, No. 6. Washington DC: American Association for Higher Education.

Gappa, J. M., & MacDermid, S. M. (1997). Work, family, and the faculty career. New Pathways Working Paper Series #8. Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education.

Garza, H. (1988). The "barrioization" of Hispanic faculty. *Educational Record*, 68(4), 122–124. Gaudelli, W. (2001, November). *Professional development, global pedagogy, and potential:* 

Examining an alternative approach to the episodic workshop. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the National Council for the Social Studies, Washington, DC.

Gibbs, G. (1992). Improving the quality of student learning. Bristol, United Kingdom: Technical & Educational Services.

Gibbs, J. E., Major, C. H., & Wright, V. H. (2003). Faculty perception of the costs and benefits of instructional technology: Implications for faculty work. *Journal of Faculty Development*, 19(2), 77-88.

Gibson, G. W. (1992). Good start: A guidebook for new faculty in liberal arts colleges. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Gillespie, K.H. (2000). The challenge and test of our values: An essay of collective experience. To improve the academy: Vol. 18. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 27-37). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Gillespie, K. H., Hilsen, L. R., & Wadsworth, E. C. (Eds.). (2002). A guide to faculty development: Practical advice, examples, and resources. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Ginsberg, M. B., & Wlodkowski, R. J. (1997, May). Developing culturally responsive teaching among faculty: Methods, content, and skills. A session presented at the 10th Annual Conference on Race and Ethnicity in American Higher Education, Orlando, FL.

Gladwell, M. (2000). The tipping point. Boston, MA: Little, Brown.

Golde, C.M. (1998). Beginning graduate school: Explaining first-year doctoral attrition. In M.S. Anderson (Ed.), New directions for higher education, No. 101. The experience of being in graduate school: An exploration (pp. 55-64). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Golde, C. M., & Dore, T. M. (2001). At cross purposes: What the experiences of doctoral students reveal about doctoral education. A report prepared for The Pew Charitable Trusts. Philadelphia, PA. Retrieved December 8, 2008, from <u>www.phd-survey.org</u> Goldschmid, M.L. (1993). Accountability in higher education: The employability of university graduates. *Proceedings: Improving university teaching 18<sup>th</sup> international conference* (pp. 529-539). Baltimore, MD: University of Maryland and University College.

Gonzales, D., & Baran, J. (2005). Breaking the silence: Innovative approaches for promoting dialogue about diversity issues within a communication disorders department. In M. L. Ouellett (Ed.), *Teaching inclusively: Resources for course, department & institutional change in higher education* (pp. 225 – 240). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Gosling, D. (2008). Educational development in the UK. London, England: Heads of Educational Development Group.

Gosling, D., McDonald, J., & Stockley, D. (2007). We did it our way! Narratives of pathways to the profession of educational development, *Educational Developments*, 8(4), 1-6.

Gosling, D., Sorcinelli, M. D., & Chism, N. V. N. (2008, June). The future of faculty/educational development: An international perspective. Presentation at the biennial meeting of the International Consortium for Educational Development, Salt Lake City, UT.

- Graf, D. L., Albright, M. J., & Wheeler, D. W. (1992). Faculty development's role in improving undergraduate education. In M. J. Albright & D. L. Graf (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 51. Teaching in the information age: The role of educational technology (pp. 101-109). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Graff, G. (1993). Beyond the culture war: How teaching the conflicts can revitalize American education. New York, NY: W. W. Norton & Company.

Grasha, A. F. (1996). Teaching with style. Pittsburgh, PA: Alliance.

Gray, T., & Birch, J. (2008). Team mentoring: A participatory way to mentor new faculty. In D. R. Robertson & L. Nilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 26: Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 230-241). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Gray, T., & Conway, J. (2007). Build it (right) and they will come: Boost attendance at your teaching center by building community. *Journal of Faculty Development*, 21(3), 179-184.

Gregory, S. (2001). Black faculty women in the academy: History, status and future. Journal of Negro Education, 70(3), 124–134.

Green, M. F. (Ed.). (1989). Minorities on campus: A handbook for enhancing diversity. Washington, DC: American Council on Education.

- GSI Teaching and Resource Center, Graduate Division, UC Berkeley (2008)
- GSI Teaching and Resource Center, Graduate Division, UC Berkeley (2008) Professional standards and ethics in teaching. Retrieved January 5, 2009, from http://gsi.berkeley.edu/ethics
- GSI Teaching and Resource Center, Graduate Division, UC Berkeley (2008a). Mentoring in http://gsi.berkeley.edu/conf\_wkshop/mentoring\_2009.html
- Gurin, P., Dey, E. L., Hurtado, S., & Gurin, G. (2002). Diversity in higher education: Theory and impact on educational outcomes. *Harvard Educational Review*, 72(3), 330-366.

### н

Hagedorn, L. S., & Laden, B. V. (2000). Job satisfaction among faculty of color in academe: Individual survivors or institutional transformers? In L. S. Hagedorn (Ed.), What contributes to job satisfaction among faculty and staff (pp. 57-66). San Francisco, CA; Jossey-Bass.

Hammons, J. Smith Wallace, T. H., & Watts, G. (1978). Staff development in the community college: A handbook. Topical Paper Number 66. Los Angeles, CA: ERIC Clearinghouse for Junior Colleges.

Harber, F., & Lyons, R. E. (2007). A proven, comprehensive program for preparing and supporting adjunct faculty members. In R. E. Lyons (Ed.), Best practices for supporting adjunct faculty (pp. 186-198). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Hardiman, R., & Jackson, B. W. (1997). Conceptual foundations for social justice courses. In M. Adams, L. Bell, & P. Griffin (Eds.), *Teaching for diversity and social justice* (pp. 16-29). New York, NY: Routledge.

Hatch, T. (2005). Into the Classroom: Developing the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Hativa, N., & Marincovich, M. (Eds.) (1995). Editors' notes. In M. Marincovich & N. Hativa (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning: No. 64. Disciplinary differences in teaching and learning: Implications for practice (pp. 1-4). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Hawthorne, J. (2008). Accountability and comparability: What's wrong with the VSA approach? Liberal Education, 94(2), 24-29.

Heiss, A. M. (1970). Challenges to graduate schools. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Hellyer, S., & Boschmann, E. (1993). Faculty development programs: A perspective. In D. L. Wright & J. P. Lunde (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 12. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 217-224). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Herbert, F., & Loy, M. (2001). The evolution of a teacher professor: Applying behavior change theory to faculty development. In D. Lieberman & C. Wehlburg (Eds.), *To improve the* academy: Vol 20. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 197-207). Bolton, MA: Anker.

higher education. Retrieved November 15, 2008, from

Higgins, D. (1990). The art of writing advertising: Conversations with masters of the craft. Lincolnwood, IL: NTC Business Books.

Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools. (2003). Handbook of accreditation (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Chicago, IL: Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools.

Holmes, T., & Taraban-Gordon, S. (n.d.). CTAD -- Consortium of TA Developers. Retrieved August 3, 2008, from University of Waterloo web site https://lists.uwaterloo.ca/mailman/listinfo/ctad

Holmgren, R.A. (2005). Teaching partners: Improving teaching and learning by cultivating a community of practice. In S. Chadwick-Blossey & D. R. Robertson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol, 23. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational

development (pp. 211-19). Bolton, MA: Anker. hooks, b. (2003). Teaching community: A pedagogy of hope. New York, NY: Routledge.

Hoss, C. (1998). The mentoring and professional development of part-time faculty. Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press

Huba M., & Freed, J. E. (2000). Learner-centered assessment on college campuses: Shifting the focus from teaching to learning. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

Huber, M. (2006). Disciplines, pedagogy, and inquiry-based learning about teaching. In C. Kreber (Ed.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 107. Exploring researchbased teaching (pp. 69-78). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.

Huber, M.T., & Hutchings, P. (2005). The advancement of learning: Building the teaching commons. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Hurtado, S., Milem, J., Clayton-Pederson, A. & Allen, W. (1999). Enacting diverse learning environments: Improving the climate for racial/ethnic diversity in higher education. ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report, Volume 26, No. 8. Washington, DC: George Washington University, Graduate School of Education and Human Development.

Hutchings, P. (1996). Making teaching community property: A menu for peer collaboration and peer review. Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education.

Hutchings, P. (Ed.) (2000). Opening lines: Approaches to the scholarship of teaching and learning. Palo Alto, CA: The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching.

13

Hutchings, P., & Shulman, L.S. (2007). The scholarship of teaching: New elaborations, new developments. Stanford, CA: The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. Retrieved January 30, 2009, from

http://www.carnegiefoundation.org/publications/sub.asp?key=452&subkey=613.

### ł

IDEA Center (2008). Retrieved December 1, 2008 from http://www.theideacenter.org/

### J

Jackson, B.W. (2005). The theory and practice of multicultural organization development in education. In M. L. Ouellett (Ed.), *Teaching inclusively: Resources for course*, *department & institutional change in higher education* (pp. 3 – 20). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Jackson, B. W., & Holvino, E. (1988). Developing multicultural organizations. Journal of Religion and the Applied Behavioral Sciences, 9(2), 14-19.

Jacobson, W., Borgford-Parnell, J., Frank, K., Peck, M. & Reddick, L. (2001). Operational diversity: Saying what we mean, doing what we say. In D. Lieberman & C. Wehlburg (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol 20. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 128-149). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Jaschik, S. (2008, May 28). Professional development for adjuncts. Inside Higher Education. Retrieved November 9, 2008, from http://insidehighered.com/news/2008/05/28/nisod

Jensen, J. D. (2002). If I knew then what I know now: A first-year faculty consultant's top ten list. In K.H. Gillespie (Ed.), A guide to faculty development: Practical advice, examples, and resources (pp. 92-100). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Johnson, A. G. (2001). Privilege, power, and difference. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill. Jossey-Bass Publishing (2008). Retrieved December 1, 2008 from

http://www.josseybass.com/WileyCDA/

Jossey-Bass Publishers (2007). Jossey-Bass reader on the brain and learning. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

#### κ

Kalivoda, P., Broder, J., & Jackson, W. K. (2003). Establishing a teaching academy: Cultivation of teaching at a research university campus. In C. M. Wehlburg & S. Chadwick-Blossey (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 21. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 79-92). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Kallen, H., Bayor, R., & Whitfield, S. (1997). Culture and democracy in the United States. Edison, NJ: Transaction Publishers.

Kallick, B., & Colosimo, J. (2009. Using curriculum mapping and assessment data to improve student learning. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

Kanter, R. M. (1977). Men and women of the corporation. New York, NY: Basic Books.

Kaplan, M. L., & Miller, A. T. (Eds.) (2007). New directions for teaching and learning: No. 111. Scholarship of multicultural teaching and learning. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Kardia, D. (1998). Becoming a multicultural faculty developer: Reflections from the field, In M. Kaplan & D. Lieberman (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 17. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 15-34). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Karen, D. (1991). The politics of class, race and gender: Access to higher education in the United States, 1960 – 1986. American Journal of Education, 99(2), 208-237.

Kashner, J.B. (1990). Changing the corporate culture. In D.W. Steeples (Ed.), New directions for higher education, No. 71. Managing change in higher education (pp. 19-28). San Francisco, CA, Jossey-Bass.

- King, K. P., & Lawler, P. A. (Eds.) (2003). New directions for adult and continuing education, No. 98. New perspectives on designing and implementing professional development of teachers of adults. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Kitano, M. K. (1997). What a course will look like after multicultural change. In A, Morey & M. Kitano (Eds.), *Multicultural course transformation in higher education: A broader truth* (pp. 18-34). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Knapp, S. D. (2008). Why "diversity" should include "disability" with practical suggestions for academic unions. American Academic, 4(1), 103-130.
- Knapper, C. K. (1995). The origins of teaching portfolios. Journal on Excellence in College Teaching, 6 (1), 45-56.
- Knight, P., & Trowler, P. R. (2001). *Departmental leadership in higher education.* Buckingham, United Kingdom: SRHE/Open University.
- Kolb, D. (1984). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2009). *Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research.* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Krutky, J.B. (2008). Intercultural competency-preparing students to be global citizens. The Baldwin-Wallace Experience. Effective Practices for Academic Leaders, 3(1), 1-16.
- Kuh, G. D. (2003). What we're learning about engagement from NSSE: Bookmarks for effective educational practices. *Change*, 35(2), 24-32.
- Kuh, G., Kinzie, J., Schuh, J.H., Whitt, E. J. & Associates (2005). *Student success in college.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Kuhlenschmidt, S. (1997). Learning how to learn computers: General principles for the novice. Retrieved October 10, 2008, from Western Kentucky University, Faculty Center for Excellence in Teaching web site: http://www.wku.edu/teaching/tnt/Irncom.htm
- Kuhlenschmidt, S. (2007). *Clicking with clickers: Questioning effectively*. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from Western Kentucky University, Faculty Center for Excellence in Teaching web site: http://www.wku.edu/teaching/booklets/clickers.html

Kuhlenschmidt, S. (2007). International English-language media for comparison to USA media. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from Western Kentucky University, Faculty Center for Excellence in Teaching web site http://www.wku.edu/teaching/media/reading.html

- Kuhlenschmidt, S. (Ed.) (2008). Quotations for college faculty. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from Western Kentucky University, Faculty Center for Excellence in Teaching web site http://www.wku.edu/teaching/db/quotes/
- Kuhlenschmidt, S. (2009, March). Who are we? Where are we? Descriptive data about centers. Paper presented at the Southern Regional Faculty Development Consortium. Louisville, KY.

Kumashiro, K. (2001). Queer students of color and antiracist, anti-heterosexist education: Paradoxes of identity and activism. In K. Kumashiro (Ed.), *Troubling intersections of race* and sexuality: Queer students of color and anti-oppressive education (pp. 1-25). New York, NY: Rowan & Littlefield Publishers.

### L

Lambert, L.M., & Tice, S.L. (Eds.). (1993). *Preparing graduate students to teach.* Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education.

Lang, H. G., & Conner, K. K. (1988). Some low-budget tips for faculty development programming. In E. Wadsworth (Ed.), A handbook for new practitioners (pp. 139-143). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Latta, G. F. (2009). Maturation of organizational development in higher education: Using cultural analysis to facilitate change. In L. B. Nilson, & J. E. Miller (Eds.), *To improve the* 

academy: Vol. 27. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 32-71). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Lee, V.S., Hyman, M.R., & Luginbuhl, G. (2007). The concept of readiness in the academic department: A case study of undergraduate education reform. *Innovative Higher Education*, 32 (1), 19-34.

Leslie, D. W. (Ed.) (1998). New directions for higher education, No. 104. The growing use of part-time faculty: Understanding causes and effects. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Leslie, D. W., & Gappa, J. M. (2002). Part-time faculty: Committed and competent. In C. I. Outcalt (Ed.), New directions for community colleges, No. 118. Community college faculty: Characteristics, practices, and challenges (pp. 59-67). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Lewis, K. (Ed.). (1993). The TA experience: Preparing for multiple roles. Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Lewis, K, G. (1996). A brief history and overview of faculty development in the United States. International Journal for Academic Development, 1(2), 26-33.

Lewis, K. G. (1996). Faculty development in the United States: A brief history. The International Journal of Academic Development, 1(2), 26-33.

Lewis, K. G., & Lunde, J. P. (Eds.) (2001). Face to face: A sourcebook of individual consultation techniques for faculty / instructional developers. Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Lewis, K., & Lunde, J. P. (Eds.). (2001). Face to face: A source book of individual consultation techniques for faculty/instructional developers (rev. ed.). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Lieberman, D. (2007). Diversity initiatives, institutional change, and curricular reform in higher education. In D. A. Brunson, B. Jarmon, & L. L. Lampl (Eds.), Letters from the future: Linking students and teaching with the diversity of everyday life (pp. 3 – 25). Sterling, VA: Stylus.

Lieberman, D. A., & Guskin, A. E. (2003). The essential role of faculty development in new higher education models. In C. M. Wehlburg & S. Chadwick-Blossey (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 21. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp.257-272). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Linden Research, Inc. (2008). Second Life. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from http://secondlife.com/

Lindholm, J.A., Szelenyi, K., Hurtado, S., & Korn, W. S. (2005). The American college teacher: National norms for the 2004-2005 HERI Faculty Survey, Los Angeles, CA: Higher Education Research Institute, University of California, Los Angeles.

Lindquist, J. (1978). Approaches to collegiate teaching improvement. In J. Lindquist (Ed.), Designing teaching improvement programs (pp. 3 – 22). Berkeley, CA: Pacific Soundings.

Lindquist, J. (1978). Strategies for change. Washington DC: Council of Independent Colleges.

Lindquist, J. (1981). Professional development. In A. W. Chickering & Associates, The modern American college: Responding to the new realities of diverse students and a changing society (pp. 730-747). San Francisco, CA; Jossey-Bass.

Lindquist, J. (Ed.). (1979). Designing teaching improvement programs. Washington, DC: Council for the Advancement of Small Colleges.

Lindsey, R. B., Robins, K. N. & Terrell, R. D. (2003). Cultural Proficiency: A manual for school leaders (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.

Lockhart, M., & Borland Jr., K. (2001). Incorporating diversity in all faculty/staff development programs...Regardless of the content. *Journal of Faculty Development* 18(2), 57-64.

Lohi-Pasey, B.,& Bennett, C. (2006). Fostering learning: An adjunct faculty development model for evaluation, development, support and professional advancement. Retrieved on November 9, 2008, from

http://www.oln.org/conferences/ODCE2006/papers/fostering\_learning/OCDE%20faculty %20development%20final.ppt Lorde, A. (1983). There is no hierarchy of oppressions. Interracial Books for Children Bulletin, 14(3-4), 9.

- Love, J. (2008). Meeting the Challenges of Integrative Learning: The Nexia concept. In D. R. Robertson & L.B. Nilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 26. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 263-274). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Lovitts, B. E. (2001). Leaving the ivory tower: The causes and consequences of departure from doctoral study. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Lucas, A. F. (1994). Strenthening departmental leadership: A team-building guide for chairs in colleges and universities. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Lucas, A. F. (2002). Increase your effectiveness in the organization: Work with department chairs. In K. Gillespie (Ed.), A guide to faculty development: Practical advice, examples, and resources (pp. 157-166). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Lucas & Associates, A.F. & Associates (2000). Leading academic change: Essential roles for department chairs. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Lunde, J. P., & Healy, M. M. (2002). The basics of faculty development committees. In K.H. Gillespie (Ed.), A guide to faculty development: Practical advice, examples, and resources (pp. 251-257). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Lyons, R. E. (Ed.) (2007). Best practices for supporting adjunct faculty. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Lyons, R. E. (2007). Deepening our understanding of adjunct faculty. In R. E. Lyons (Ed.), Best practices for supporting adjunct faculty (pp. 1-12). Bolton, MA: Anker.

## М

Marchesani, L. S., & Adams, M. (1992). Dynamics of diversity in the teaching-learning process: A faculty development model for analysis and action. In M. Adams (Ed.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 52. Promoting diversity in college classrooms: Innovative responses for the curriculum, faculty, and institutions (pp. 9-19). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Marchesani, L. S., & Jackson, B. (2005). Transforming higher education institutions using multicultural organizational development: A case study of a large northeastern university. In M. L. Ouellett (Ed.), *Teaching inclusively: Resources for course, department & institutional change in higher education* (pp. 3 – 20). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

- Marincovich, M. (2007). Teaching and learning in a research-intensive university. In R. P. Perry & J. C. Smart (Eds.), The scholarship of teaching and learning in higher education: An evidence-based perspective (pp. 23-38). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.
- Marincovich, M. (2007). Teaching at Stanford: An introductory handbook for faculty, academic staff, and teaching assistants. Stanford, CA: Stanford University, Center for Teaching and Learning.

Marincovich, M., Prostko, J., & Stout, F. (Eds.). (1998). The professional development of graduate teaching assistants. Bolton, MA: Anker.

- MarketTools, Inc. [Computer software]. (1999). Zoomerang. Retrieved January 8, 2009, from Zoomerang Web site: http://www.zoomerang.com/
- Marsh, H. W. (2007). Student evaluations of university teaching: Dimensionality, reliability, validity, potential biases, and usefulness. In, R. P. Perry & J. C. Smart. (Eds.), The scholarship of teaching and learning in higher education: An evidence-based perspective (pp. 319-384). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.

Marton, F., & Saljo, R. (1976). On qualitative differences in learning: Outcome and process. British Journal of Educational Psychology, 46(1), 4-11.

Marx, J. (2005, September 9). Undergraduate research in the humanities [Letter to the editor]. The Chronicle of Higher Education, p. B22. Maryland Online, Inc. (2006). Quality Matters. Retrieved June 29, 2008, from http://www.gualitymatters.org/

Massy, W. F. (2003). Honoring the trust: Quality and cost containment in higher education. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Massy, W. F., Wilger, A. K., & Colbeck, C. (1994). Overcoming hollowed collegiality. Change 26 (4), 10-20.

Mazur, E. (1997). Peer instruction. A user's manual. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

McCalman, C. L. (2007, Summer). Being an interculturally competent instructor in the United States: Issues of classroom dynamics and appropriateness, and recommendations for international instructors. In K. G. Hendrix (Ed.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 110. Neither white nor male: Female faculty of color (pp. 65-74). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

McCormick, A., & Zhao, C. (2005). Rethinking and reframing the Carnegie classification. Change, 37(5), 52-57.

McDonald, J., & Stockley, D. (2008). Pathways to the profession of educational development: An international perspective. *International Journal for Academic Development*. 13(3), 213-218.

McGowan, J. (2000). Multicultural teaching: African-American faculty classroom teaching experiences in predominantly white colleges and universities. *Multicultural Education*, 8(2), 19-22.

McKeachie, W. J. (1991). What theories underlie the practice of faculty development? In K. Zahorski (Ed.), To improve the academy: Vol 10. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 3-8). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

McKeachie, W. J., & Svinicki, M. D. (2005). Teaching tips (12th ed). New York, NY: Houghton Mifflin.

McKeachie, W. J., & Svnicki, M. (2006) (Eds.) Teaching tips. Strategies, research, and theory for college and university teachers (12<sup>th</sup> ed.). Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.

McLean, C. A. (2007, Summer). Establishing credibility in the multicultural classroom: When the instructor speaks with an accent. In K. G. Hendrix (Ed.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 110. Neither white nor male: Female faculty of color (pp. 15-24). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Megginson, R. E. (2006). What works, A PKAL F21 Essay: Why change? What works, what matters, what lasts, 4. Washington, DC: Project Kaleidoscope. (PKAL).

Melnik, M. A., & Sheehan, D. S. (1976) Clinical Supervision elements: The clinic to improve university teaching. Journal of Research and Development in Education, 9(2), 67-76

Menges, R. J. (1996). Awards to individuals. In M. D. Svinicki & R. J. Menges (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning: Vol. 65. Honoring exemplary teaching, (pp. 3-10). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Menges, R. J. (1999). Faculty in new jobs. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Menges, R. J., & Brinko, K. T. (1986, April). Effects of student evaluation feedback: A metaanalysis of higher education research. Paper presented at the meeting of the American Educational Research Association. San Francisco: CA. (Eric Document Reproduction Service No. ED 270 408)

Menges, R., & Rando, W. (1989). What are your assumptions? Improving instruction by examining theories. College Teaching, 37(2), 54-60.

MERLOT. (2009). Multimedia Educational Resource for Learning and Online Teaching. Retrieved June 30, 2009, from MERLOT Web site: http://www.merlot.org/merlot/

Meyers, S. A., Bender, J., Hill, E. K., & Thomas, S. Y. (2006). How do faculty experience and respond to classroom conflict? *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 18(3), 180-187.

- Middlestates Commission on Higher Education (2006). Characteristics of excellence in higher education: Eligibility requirements and standards for accreditation. Philadelphia, PA: Middlestates Commission on Higher Education.
- Milem, J. F. (2003). The educational benefits of diversity: Evidence from multiple sectors. In M. Chang, D. Witt, J. Jones & K. Hakuta (Eds.), *Compelling interest: Examining the evidence* on racial dynamics in higher education (pp. 126-169). Palo Alto, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Milem, J. F., Chang, M. J., and Antonio, A. L. (2005). Making diversity work on campus: A research-based perspective. Washington, DC: Association of American Colleges and Universities.
- Milgram, S. (1974), Obedience to authority: An experimental view. New York, NY: Harper & Row.

Miller, J., & Garran, A. M. (2008). Racism in the United States: Implications for the helping professions. Belmont, CA: Thompson Brooks/Cole.

- Millis, B. J. (2004) A versatile interactive focus group protocol for qualitative assessments. In C. M. Wehlburg & S Chadwick-Blossey (Eds.), *To improve the academy, Vol. 22. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development* (pp. 125-141). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Milloy, P. M., & Brooke, C. (2003). Beyond bean counting: Making faculty development needs assessment more meaningful. In C. M. Wehlburg & S. Chadwick-Blossey (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 22. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 71–92). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Minnesota State Colleges and Universities, Center for Teaching and Learning Tutorials. Retrieved on November 9, 2008, from

http://www.ctl.mnscu.edu/programs/educ\_opp/tutorials.html

Moody, J. (2001). Demystifying the profession: Helping junior faculty succeed. New Haven, CT: University of New Haven Press.

Moody, J. (2004). Faculty diversity: Problems and solutions. New York, NY: Routledge.

Mooney, K. M., Fordham, T., & Lehr, V. 2005. A faculty development program to promote engaged classroom dialogue: The oral communication institute. In S. Chadwick-Blossey & D. R. Robertson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 23. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 219-235). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Mooney, K. M., & Reder, M. (2008). Faculty development at small and liberal arts colleges. In D. R. Robertson & L. B. Nilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 26. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp.158-172). San Francisco, CA. Jossey-Bass.

Morey, A., & Kitano, M. (1997). Multicultural course transformation in higher education: A broader truth. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Morrison-Shetlar, A. I., & Hohenleitner, K. (2008). Investing in faculty at every career stage. Project Kaleidoscope Volume I: What works, what matters, what lasts (pp. 1-6). Retrieved December 22, 2008, from

http://www.pkal.org/documents/Vol4InvestingInFacultyAtEveryCareerStage.cfm

Muhtaseb, A. (2007): From behind the veil: Students' resistance from different directions. In K. G. Hendrix (Ed.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 110. Neither white nor male: Female faculty of color (pp. 25-34). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Mullinix, B. B. (2008). Credibility and effectiveness in context: An exploration of the importance of faculty status for faculty developers. In D. R. Robertson & L. B. Nilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 26. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 173-195). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Murray, H. G. (2007). Research on low-inference behaviors: An update. In, R. P. Perry & J. C. Smart (Eds.), The scholarship of teaching and learning in higher education: An evidence-based perspective (pp. 184-200). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.

- Murray, J. P. (2002). The current state of faculty development in two-year colleges. In C. I. Outcalt (Ed.), New directions for community colleges, No. 118. Community college faculty: Characteristics, practices, and challenges (pp. 89-97). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Musil, C. M., Garcia, M., Moses, Y. T., & Smith, D. G. (1995). Diversity in higher education: A work in progress. Washington, DC: AAC&U Publications.

### N

- Nakayama, T.K., & Martin. J.N. (Eds.) (1999). Whiteness: The communication of social identity. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- National Association of Graduate-Professional Students. (2001). The national doctoral program survey: Executive summary. Washington, DC: National Association of Graduate-Professional Students.

National Center for Education Statistics. (1992). Full-time instructional faculty and staff, in institutions of higher education, by instruction activities and type and control of institution. Retrieved August 18, 2008 from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d99/d99t232.asp

National Center for Education Statistics. (2004). 2004 National study of postsecondary faculty (NSOPF:04) Report on faculty and instructional staff in fall 2003. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences. Retrieved on November 9, 2008, from <u>http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2005172</u>

- Naylor, S. (March 14, 2006). Scholarship of teaching and learning (SoTL) potential publishing outlets. Retrieved December 1, 2008 from http://www.ilstu.edu/~sknaylor/sotl.htm
- Neal, E., & Peed-Neal, I. (2009). Experiential lessons in the practice of faculty development. In L. B. Nilson & J. Miller (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 27. Resources for faculty,
- instructional, and organization development (pp. 14-31). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. Nelsen, W. C. (1980). Faculty development: Perceived needs for the 1980's. In W. C. Nelsen & M. E. Siegel (Eds.), Effective approaches to faculty development (pp. 145-149).

Washington, DC: Association of American Colleges. Nelsen, W. C., & Siegel, M. E. (Eds.). (1980). Effective approaches to faculty development. Washington, DC: Association of American Colleges.

- Nemko, M., & Simpson, R. D. (1991). Nine keys to enhancing campus wide influence of faculty development centers. In K. J. Zahorski (Ed.), To improve the academy: Vol. 10. Resources for student, faculty, & institutional development (pp. 83-87). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.
- Nerad, M., Aanerud, R., and Cerny, J. (2004). "So you want to become a professor!": Lessons from the PhDs-Ten Years Later study. In D. H. Wulff & A. E. Austin (Eds.), Paths to the professoriate: Strategies for enriching the preparation of future faculty (pp. 137-158). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Newman, F., Courtier, L., & Scully, J. (2004). The future of higher education: Rhetoric, reality, and the risks of the market. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Nielsen, J. (2008). Useit.com: Jakob Nielsen's web site. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from http://www.useit.com/

- Nieto, S. (1992). Affirming diversity: The sociopolitical context of multicultural education. New York, NY: Longman.
- Nowlis, V., Clark, K. E., & Rock, M. (1968). The graduate student as teacher. Washington, DC: American Council on Education.

Nuhfer, E., & Kipp, D. (2003). The knowledge survey: A tool for all reasons. In C. Wehlburg & S.Chadwick-Blossey (Eds.) To improve the academy: Vol. 21. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 59-74). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Nyquist, J. (1986). CIDR: A small service firm within a research university. In M. Svinicki, J. Kurfiss, & J. Stone (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 5. Resources for student, faculty, and institutional development (pp. 66-83). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

- Nyquist, J.D., Abbott, R.D., Wulff, R.D., & Sprague, J. (Eds.). (1991). Preparing the professoriate of tomorrow to teach: Selected readings in TA training. Dubuque, IA: Kendall Hunt.
- Nyquist, J. D., Austin, A. E., Sprague, J., & Wulff, D. H. (2001). The development of graduate students as teaching scholars: A four-year longitudinal study, final report. Seattle, WA: University of Washington, Center for Instructional Development and Research.
- Nyquist, J. D., Manning, L., Wulff, D. H., Austin, A. E., Sprague, J., Fraser, P. K., Calcagno, C., & Woodford, B. (1999). On the road to becoming a professor: The graduate student experience. *Change*, 31 (3), 18-27.
- Nyquist, J. D., & Sprague, J. (1998). Thinking developmentally about TAs. In M. Marincovich, J., Prostko, & F. Stout (Eds.), The professional development of graduate teaching assistants (pp. 61-88). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Nyquist, J., & Woodford, B. (2000). Re-envisioning the Ph.D.: What concerns do we have? Seattle, WA: University of Washington, Center for Instructional Development and Research. Retrieved November 15, 2008, from http://www.grad.washington.edu/envision/project\_resources/concerns.html.

## 0

- O'Banion, T. (1972). Teachers for tomorrow: Staff development in the community junior college. Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona Press.
- O'Neal, C., Cook, C. E., Wright, M., Perorazio, T., & Purkiss, J. (2007). The impact of teaching assistants on student retention in the sciences: Lessons for TA training. *Journal of College Science Teaching*, 36 (5), 24-29.

Office of Faculty and Organizational Development (n.d). Michigan State University. Retrieved January 30, 2009, from http://fod.msu.edu/

- Ognibene, E. R. (1989). Integrating the curriculum: From impossible to possible. College Teaching, 37(3), 105-110.
- Olsen, D., & Sorcinelli, M. D. (1992). The pretenure years: A longitudinal perspective. In M.D. Sorcinelli & A. E. Austin (Eds.), New directions for higher education, No 48. Developing new and junior faculty (pp. 15-25). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Ortquist-Ahrens, L. & Torosyan, R. (in press). The role of the facilitator in faculty learning communities: Paving the way for growth, productivity, and collegiality. *Learning Communities Journal.*

Ouellett, M. L. (Ed.) (2005). Teaching inclusively: Resources for course, department & institutional change in higher education. Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Ouellett, M. L., &. Fraser, E. (2005). Teaching together: Interracial teams. In M. L. Ouellett (Ed.), Teaching inclusively: Resources for course, department and institutional change in higher education (pp. 189-210). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Ouellett, M., & Sorcinelli, M. D. (1995). Teaching and learning in the diverse classroom: A faculty and TA partnership program. In E. Neal (Ed.), To improve the academy: Vol. 14, Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 205-217). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

## P

Palmer, P. J. (1998, October 9). Melange. The Chronicle of Higher Education, p. B12. POD Network (2003).

Palomba, C. A., & Banta, T. W. (1999). Assessment essentials. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1991). How college affects students. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (2005). How college affects students. Volume 2: A third decade of research. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass
- Pathways to the Profession of Educational Development (n.d.). Retrieved December 30, 2008, from http://www.iathe.org/pathways/
- Pathways to the Profession of Educational Development (n.d.). New developers resources. Retrieved December 22, 2008 at http://www.iathe.org/pathways/eng/NewDevRes.aspx and moving in 2009 to http://www.edpathways.com
- Perry, R. P. (1991). Perceived control in the college classroom. In J. C. Smart (Ed.) Higher education: Handbook of theory and research, Vol. 7 (pp. 1-56). New York, NY: Agathon.
- Perry, R. P., & Smart, J. C.(Eds.) (2007). The scholarship of teaching and learning in higher education: An evidence-based perspective. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.
- Peters, D., Schodt, D., & Walczak, M. (2008). Supporting the scholarship of teaching and learning at liberal arts colleges. In D. R. Robertson & L.B. Nilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 26. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 68-84). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Petrone, M. C. (2004). Supporting diversity with faculty learning communities: Teaching and learning across boundaries. In M. D. Cox & L. Richlin (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 97, Building faculty learning communities (pp. 111-125). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Piccinin, S. (1999). How individual consultation affects teaching. In C. Knapper & S. Piccinin (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 79. Using consultants to improve teaching (pp. 71-83). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Plank, K. M., Kalish, A., Rohdieck, S. V., & Harper, K. A. (2005). A vision beyond measurement: Creating an integrated data system for teaching centers. In S. Chadwick-Blossey & D. R. Robertson (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol. 23. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development* (pp. 173–190). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Plone [Computer software]. (2000). Retrieved August 3, 2008, from http://plone.org/ Polich, S. (2008). Assessment of a faculty learning community program: Do faculty members really change? In L. B. Nilson & J. E. Miller (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol 26. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 106-118). San
- Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, Pollock, S., & Finkelstein, F. (2008). Sustaining educational reforms in introductory physics. Physics Review Special Topics: Physics Education Research, 4 (1), 010110.
- Pratt, D., & Collins, J. (2001). Teaching Perspectives Inventory. Retrieved June 20, 2008, from http://www.teachingperspectives.com/
- Professional and Organizational Development Network in Higher Education (n.d.). Retrieved December 30, 2008 from http://www.podnetwork.org/

Professional and Organizational Development Network in Higher Education. (2007). POD custom search engine- for POD Network faculty development centers. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from http://www.podnetwork.org/search.htm#faculty

- Professional and Organizational Development Network in Higher Education. (2007). Retrieved June 19, 2008, from http://www.podnetwork.org/
- Professional and Organizational Development Network in Higher Education. (2007). POD listserv. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from http://www.podnetwork.org/listserve.htm
- Profeval [Computer software]. (2007). Retrieved August 3, 2008 from http://www.profeval.com/home/chooseschool.asp
- Prosser, M., & Trigwell, K. (1999), Understanding learning and teaching: The experience in higher education. Buckingham, United Kingdom: SRHE/Open University Press.

R

Ramsden, P. (2003). Learning to teach in higher education (2nd ed). London, England: Routledge Falmer.

Reder, M. (2007). Does your college really support teaching and learning? Peer Review, 9 (4), 9-13.

- Reder, M. (2009). Assessing faculty development programming on a shoestring: Practical advice and strategies. Unpublished manuscript.
- Reder, M., & Gallagher, E. V. (2007). Transforming a teaching culture through peer mentoring: Connecticut College's Johnson Teaching Seminar for incoming faculty and the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning. In Dr. R. Robertson & L. B. Nilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 25. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 327-344). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Reder, M., Mooney, K.M., Holmgren, R.A., & Kuerbis, P.J. (2009). Starting and sustaining successful faculty development programs at small colleges. To improve the academy: Vol. 27. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational Development (pp. 267-286). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Rice, D. R. (1991). What every faculty development professional needs to know about higher education. In K. J. Zahorski (Ed.), To improve the academy: Vol. 10. Resources for student, faculty, & institutional development (pp. 89-96). Stillwater, OK; New Forums.
- Rice, R. E. (2007). It all started in the sixties: Movements for change across the decades--A personal journey. In D. R. Robertson & L. B. Nilson (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol.* 25. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 3-17). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Rice, R.E., & Sorcinelli, M.D. (2002). Can the tenure process be improved? In R. P. Chait (Ed.), The guestions of tenure (pp. 101-124). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Rice, R. E., Sorcinelli, M. D., & Austin, A. E. (2000). Heeding new voices: Academic careers for a new generation. New Pathways Working Paper Series, Inquiry #7. Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education.
- Roberts, H., Gonzales, J. C., Harris, O. D., Huff, D. J., Johns, A. M., Lou, R., et al. (1994). Teaching from a multicultural perspective, Vol. 12, Survival skills for teaching. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Robertson, D. L. (1988). Self-directed growth. Muncie, IN: Accelerated Development, Inc.

- Rogers, E. (1962). Diffusion of innovations (1st ed.). New York, NY; Free Press.
- Rogers, E. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5th ed.). New York, NY: Free Press.
- Ronald E. McNair Postbaccalaureate Achievement Program. Retrieved December 29, 2008, from the U.S. Department of Education web site:
  - http://www.ed.gov/programs/triomcnair/index.html
- Ronald E. McNair Postbaccalaureate Achievement Program. Retrieved December 29, 2008, from the U.S. Department of Education web site:

http://www.ed.gov/programs/triomcnair/index.html

Rowland, S. (2000). The enquiring university teacher. Buckingham, United Kingdom: SRHE/Open University Press.

- Roxa, T., & Martensson, K. (2008). Strategic educational development: A national Swedish initiative to support change in higher education. *Higher Education Research and Development*, 27(2), 155-68.
- Rouseff-Baker, F. (2002). Leading change through faculty development. In G. Watts (Ed.), New directions for community colleges, No. 120. Enhancing community colleges through professional development (pp. 35-42). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Saddler, T. N., & Creamer, E. G. (2007). Faculty perceptions of climate and job satisfaction by race/ethnicity: Findings from 2005 AdvanceVT Work-Life Survey. Retrieved July 27, 2008 from

www.advance.vt.edu/Measuring Progress/Faculty Survey 2005/Minority Survey Report F inal.pdf

Sanford, N. (1980). Learning after college. Berkeley, CA: Montaigne Press.

Saroyan, A., Amundsen, C., & Li, C. (1997). Incorporating theories of teacher growth and adult education in a faculty development program. In D. DeZure (Ed.), To improve the academy: Vol 16. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 93-116). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

- Schilling, K. (2006). Assessment methods should match institutional goals. Academic Leader, 22(6), 2-6.
- Schmitz, B., Paul, S. P., & Greenberg, J. D. (1992). Creating multicultural classrooms: An experience-derived faculty development program. In L. Border & N.V. N. Chism (Eds.), *New directions for teaching and learning*, No.49. *Teaching for diversity* (pp. 75-87). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Schneider, C. G. (2008). Globalization and U. S. higher education. Liberal Education, 94 (4), 1-2.

Schön, D. A. (1983). The reflective practitioner: How professionals think in action. New York, NY: Basic Books.

Schoem, D., Frankel, L., Züńiga, X., & Lewis, E. A.(1993). Multicultural teaching in the university. Westport, CT: Praeger.

Schoem, D., Frankel, L., Züniga, X., & Lewis, E. A. (1993). The meaning of multicultural teaching: An introduction. In D. Schoem, L. Frankel, X. Züñiga, & E.A. Lewis (Eds.), *Multicultural teaching in the university* (pp. 1-12). Westport, CT: Praeger.

Schuetz, P. (2002). Instructional practices of part-time and full-time faculty. In C. L. Outcault (Ed.), New directions for community colleges, No. 118. Community college faculty.

Characteristics, practices, and challenges (pp. 39-46). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. Schuster, J. H., Wheeler, D. W., & Associates (1990). Enhancing faculty careers: Strategies for development and renewal. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Seldin, P. (1995). Improving college teaching. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Seldin, P. (1997). The teaching portfolio: A practical guide to improved performance and promotion/tenure decisions. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Seldin, P. (2006). Tailoring faculty development programs to faculty career stages. In S. Chadwick-Blossey (Ed.), To improve the academy: Vol. 24. Resources for faculty, instructional and organizational development (pp.137-144). Bolton, MA: Anker.

- Seldin, P., & Associates (1990). How administrators can improve teaching. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Senge, P. M. (1990). The fifth discipline: The art and practice of the learning organization. New York, NY: Doubleday.
- Seubka, P., Luksaneeyanawin, S., Tongroach, C., & Thipakorn, B. (2008, June). Professional development associations around the world: How can they support their members and the global scholarship of practice? Paper presented at the annual meeting of the International Consortium for Educational Development, Salt Lake City, UT.

Shavelson, R. (2007). Assessing student learning responsibly: From history to an audacious proposal. Change, 39(1), 26–33

Shih, M., & Sorcinelli, M. D. (2000). TEACHnology: Linking teaching and technology in faculty development. In M. Kaplan & D. Lieberman (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol. 18. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development* (pp. 151 – 163). Bolton, MA: Anker.

S

Shih, M.Y., & Sorcinelli, M.D. (2007). Technology as a catalyst for senior faculty development. Journal of Faculty Development, 21 (1), 23-31.

Showalter, E. (2002). Teaching literature. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishers.

- Shulman, L. S. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. Educational Researcher, 15 (2), 4-14.
- Shulman, L. S. (1993). Teaching as community property: Putting an end to pedagogical solitude. Change, 25(6), 6-7.
- Shulman, L. S. (1999). Fostering a scholarship of teaching. [Video]. Stanford, CA: The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching.
- Shulman, L. S. (1999). Taking learning seriously, Change, 31(4), 11-17.
- Shulman, L. S. (2004). Teaching as community property: Essays on higher education. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Shulman, L. S. (2007). Counting and recounting: Assessment and the quest for accountability. Change, 39(1), 20-25.
- Shulman, L. S., & Hutchings, P. (1999). The scholarship of teaching: New elaborations, new developments. *Change Magazine*, 31 (5), 11-15.
- Siegel, M. E. (1980). Empirical findings on faculty development programs. In W. C. Nelsen & M. E. Siegel (Eds.), *Effective approaches to faculty development* (pp. 131-144). Washington, DC: Association of American Colleges.
- Silliman, J. C. (2007). Supporting adjunct faculty through orientation and mentoring initiatives and an online professional development course. In R. E. Lyons (Ed.), Best practices for supporting adjunct faculty (pp. 158-185). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Sinex, S. (2008). Developers guide to Excelets. Retrieved August 3, 2008, from http://academic.pgcc.edu/~ssinex/excelets/
- Smikle, J. L. (1994). Practical guide to developing and implementing cultural awareness training for faculty and staff development. *Journal of Staff, Program & Organizational Development, 12(2),* 69-80.
- Smith, C. & Beno, B. (1993). A guide to staff development evaluation. Sacramento, CA: Community College League of California. Rev. in 2003 by Smith, C., DeVol, M., & Stetson, N. as Evaluating staff and organizational development. Available from California Community College Council for Staff & Organizational Development at http://www.4csd.org
- Smith, K.S. (2000). Faculty development that transforms the undergraduate experience at a research university. In D. Lieberman & C. Wehlburg (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 19. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 193-204). Bolton, MA: Anker.
- Smith, M., & Wright, D. (2000). Orientation of adjunct and part-time faculty Exemplary models. In D. E. Greive & C. A. Worden (Eds.), *Managing adjunct and part-time faculty for the new millennium* (pp. 45-69). Elyria, OH: Info-Tec.

Smith, R. (1997). Instructional consultants as reflective practitioners. In K.T. Brinko & R. J. Menges (Eds.), Practically speaking: A sourcebook for instructional consultants in higher education (pp. 255-259). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Snyder, T. D., Dillow, S. A., & Hoffman, C. M. (2008). Digest of Education Statistics 2007 (NCES 2008-022). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education.

Society for Teaching and Learning in Higher Education. (2008). STLHE-L@LISTSERV.UNB.CA: Forum for teaching & learning in higher education. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from University of New Brunswick, New Brunswick, Canada web site:

http://www.lsoft.com/scripts/wl.exe?SL1=STLHE-L&H=LISTSERV.UNB.CA

Solem, M. N., & Foote, K. E. (2004). Concerns, attitudes, and abilities of early career geography faculty. Annuals of the Association of American Geographers, 1 (4), 889-912. Soracco, S. (2008). Graduate writing resources. Retrieved August 14, 2008, from University of California, Berkeley Graduate Division web site:

http://www.grad.berkeley.edu/acapro/academic services.shtml#1

Sorcinelli, M. D. (1988). Encouraging excellence: Long-range planning for faculty development. In E. Wadsworth (Ed.), A handbook for new practitioners (pp. 27-34). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Sorcinelli, M. D. (1994). Effective approaches to new faculty development. Journal of Counseling & Development, 72 (5), 474-479

Sorcinelli, M. D. (2000). Principles of good practice: Supporting early-career faculty. New Pathways II Project Forum on Faculty Roles and Rewards. Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education.

Sorcinelli, M.D., (2000). Principles of good practice: Supporting early-career faculty. Guidance for deans, department chairs, and other academic leaders. Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education, Retrieved January

2, 2009, from http://www.umass.edu/cft/publications/early\_career\_faculty.pdf Sorcinelli, M. D. (2002). Ten principles of good practice in creating and sustaining teaching and

learning centers. In K. H. Gillespie (Ed.), A guide to faculty development: Practical advice, examples, and resources (pp. 9-23). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Sorcinelli, M. D. (2007, Fall). Faculty development: The challenge going forward. Peer Review, 9 (4), 4-9

Sorcinelli, M. D., & Aitken, N. (1995), Improving teaching: Academic leaders and faculty developers as partners. In W. A. Wright & Associates (Ed.), Teaching improvement practices: Successful strategies for higher education (pp.311-323). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Sorcinelli, M. D., & Austin, A. E. (2006). Developing faculty for new roles and changing expectations. Effective practices for academic leaders, 1(11), 1-16.

Sorcinelli, M. D., & Austin, A. E., (Eds.) (1992). New directions for higher education, No

50. Developing new and junior faculty. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. Sorcinelli, M. D., Austin, A. E., Eddy, P. L., & Beach, A. L. (2006). Creating the future of faculty development: Learning from the past, understanding the present. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Sorcinelli, M. D., & Jung, Y. (2006, June). Mutual mentoring initiative: Envisioning a new culture of mentoring. Poster presentation at the 4th annual International Conference on Teaching and Learning in Higher Education, Galway, Ireland.

Sorcinelli, M. D., Shih, M., Ouellett, M. L., & Stewart, M. (2007). How post-tenure review can support the teaching development of senior faculty. In D. R. Robertson & L.B. Nielson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol 25. Resources for faculty, instructional, and.

Sorcinelli, M.D., Austin, A. E., & Trower, C.A. (2001). Paradise lost. The Department Chair, 12 (1), 1-3, 6-7.

Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. (2008). Principles of accreditation: Foundations for quality enhancement. Atlanta, GA: Southern Association of Colleges and Schools

Springer, A. (2002). How to diversify faculty: The current legal landscape. Washington, DC: American Association of University Professors.

St. John, E. P., McKinney, J. S., & Tuttle, T. (2006). Using action inquiry to address critical challenges. In E. P. St. John & M. Wilkerson (Eds.), Reframing persistence research to

improve academic success (pp. 63-76). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. Stanford University Faculty Handbook. (2007). Retrieved August 18, 2008 from http://facultyhandbook.stanford.edu/

Stanley, C. A. (2001). A review of the pipeline: The value of diversity in staffing teaching and learning centers in the new millennium. Journal of Faculty Development, 18(2), 75-86.

Stanley, C. A. (2006). Coloring the academic landscape: Faculty of color breaking the silence in predominantly white colleges and universities. American Educational Research Journal, 43(4), 701-736.

Stanley, C.A. (Ed.) (2006). Faculty of color: Teaching in predominantly white colleges and universities. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Stanley, C.A., & Algert, N.E. (2007). An exploratory study of the conflict management styles of department heads in a research university setting. *Innovative Higher Education* 32 (1), pp. 49-66.

Stanley, C.A., Saunders, S., & Hart, J. (2005). Multicultural course transformation. In M.L. Ouellett (Ed.), Teaching inclusively: Resources for course, department & institutional change in higher education, (pp. 566-585). Stillwater, OK: New Forums Press.

Steele, C. M. (1997). A threat in the air: How stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. American Psychologist, 52 (6), 613-629.

Steward, D. (2003). Working toward equality. Academe, 89 (4), 29-33.

Stewart, D.W., Shamdasani, P.N., & Rook, D.W. (2007). Focus groups: Theory and practice (2<sup>nd</sup>. Ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Stockley, D., Mighty, J., McDonald, J., Taylor, L., Sorcinelli, M.D., Ouellett, M.L., Lewis, K., Land, R., Gosling, D., Dawson, D., and Caron, A. (2008, June). Mapping our pathway into the field of educational development. Presentation at the biennial meeting of the International Consortium for Educational Development. Salt Lake City, UT.

StudyMate Author 2.0 [Computer software]. (2000). Redmond, WA: Respondus, Inc. Retrieved October 8, 2008, from http://www.respondus.com/products/studymate.shtml

Stylus Pubishing (2008). Retrieved December 1, 2008 from http://www.styluspub.com/Books/Features.aspx

SurveyMonkey [Computer software]. (1999). Portland, OR: SurveyMonkey.com. Retrieved from October 8, 2008, http://www.surveymonkey.com/

Svinicki, M, (2004). Learning and motivation in the postsecondary classroom. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Svinicki, M., & Lewis, K. (2008). Preparing for peer observation: A guidebook. Retrieved December 1, 2008 from

### Т

TeachingCoach.Org, Support for new faculty developers in higher education (n.d.). Retrieved December 22, 2008 from http://www.teachingcoach.org

TeacherTube, LLC. (2008). TeacherTube: Teach the world. Retrieved June 19, 2008, from http://www.teachertube.com/

Teaching Issues Online Workshop Series (2007). Retrieved June 19, 2008, from Western Kentucky University, Faculty Center for Excellence in Teaching web site: http://www.wku.edu/teaching/teachingissues/

Teaching Learning Center (n.d.). Café conversations. University of Nevada, Las Vegas. Retrieved January 30, 2009, from

http://www2.tlc.unlv.edu/tlc/registration/winterspring.php?semester=spring&year=2009

The mission. Retrieved January 13, 2009, from http://podnetwork.org/about/mission.htm

The Quality Enhancement Plan (2008). Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. Retrieved January 30, 2009, from

http://www.sacscoc.org/pdf/081705/QEP%20Handbook.pdf

Theall, M. (Ed.) (1999). New directions for teaching and learning, No. 78. Motivation from within: Encouraging faculty and students to excel. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass

Theall, M. (1999). What have we learned? A synthesis and some guidelines for effective motivation in higher education. In M. Theall (Ed.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 78. Motivation from within: Encouraging faculty and students to excel (pp. 99-109). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Theall, M. (2001). Thinking about motivation: Some issues for instructional consultants. In K. G. Lewis & J. P. Lunde (Eds.) Face to face: A sourcebook of individual consultation techniques for faculty/instructional developers (pp. 77-91). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Theall, M., & Feldman, K. A. (2007). Commentary and update on Feldman's (1997) "Identifying exemplary teachers and teaching: Evidence from student ratings." In, R. P. Perry & J. C. Smart. (Eds.), The scholarship of teaching and learning in higher education: An evidence-based perspective (pp. 130-143). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.

Theall, M., & Franklin, J. L. (Eds.) (1991). New directions for teaching and learning, No. 48.

Effective Practices for Improving Teaching. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Theall, M., & Franklin, J. L. (1991). Using student ratings for teaching improvement. In M. Theall & J. L.

Franklin (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 48. Effective practices for improving teaching (pp. 83-96). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass

Thomas, K.W., & Kilmann, R.H. (1974). *The Thomas-Kilmann conflict mode instrument*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychology

Tiberius, R. G. (2001). A brief history of educational development: Implications for teachers and developers. In D. Lieberman & C. Wehlburg (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol 20. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 20-37)*. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Tierney, W. (1988). Organizational culture in higher education. *Journal of Higher Education*, 59 (1), 2-21.

Tierney, W. G., & Bensimon, E. M. (1996). *Promotion and tenure: Community and socialization in academe*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Tillman, L. (2002). Culturally sensitive research approaches: An African-American perspective. Educational Researcher, 31(9), 3–12.

Tinto, V. (1993). Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition (2nd ed). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Tomkinson, B. (2005). Transcultural issues in teaching and learning. In Ouellett, M. L. (Ed). Teaching inclusively: Resources for course, department and institutional change in higher education (pp. 58-73). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Townsend, B. K., & Twombly, S. B. (2007). Community college faculty: Overlooked and undervalued. ASHE Higher Education Report, 32, No. 6.

Trower, C. A. (Ed.) (2000). Policies on faculty appointment: Standard practices and unusual arrangements. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Trower, C. A. (2003). Leveling the field. The Academic Workplace, 14(2): 1, 3, 6-7, 14-15.

Trower, C. A. (2005). How do junior faculty feel about your campus as a work place? Harvard Institutes for Higher Education: Alumni Bulletin. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University.

Trower, C. A., Austin, A. E., & Sorcinelli, M. D. (2005). Paradise lost: How the academy converts enthusiastic recruits into early career doubters. *American Association of Higher Education (AAHE) Bulletin*, 53 (9), 3-6.

Trower, C. A., & Chait, R. P. (2002, March–April). Faculty diversity: Too little for too long. Harvard Magazine, 104(4), 33–37.

Tuitt, F. A., Sagaria, M. A. D., & Turner, C. S. V. (2007). Signals and strategies: The hiring of faculty of color. In J.C. Smart (Ed.), *Higher education: Handbook of theory and research*, *Vol. 22* (pp. 497-535). New York, NY: Agathon Press.

Turner, S. T., & Myers, S. L. (2000). Faculty of color in the academy: Bittersweet success. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Tusmith, B., & Reddy, M. (2002). Race in the college classroom: Pedagogy and politics. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.

U

Umbach, P. D. (2006). The contribution of faculty of color to undergraduate education. Research in Higher Education, 47(3), 317-345.

- U. S. Department of Education (2007). Digest of education statistics. Chapter 3. Postsecondary education. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education
- Sciences. Retrieved November 9, 2008, from <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d07/">http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d07/</a> U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2004). National Study of Postsecondary Faculty (NSOPF:04). Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved January 2, 2009, from http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2007175
- University of Kansas, Center for Teaching Excellence (n.d.). CTE information: Other teaching centers. Retrieved December 22, 2008 from <u>http://www.cte.ku.edu/cteInfo/resources/web</u> sites.shtml
- UW ADVANCE, (n.d.). Leadership workshops. Retrieved January 30, 2009, from http://www.engr.washington.edu/advance/workshops/

## ٧

Vargas, L. (Ed.), (2002). Women faculty of color in the White classroom. New York, NY: Peter Lang.

- von Hoene, L. (2009). Graduate student teaching certificates. Manuscript in preparation.
- von Hoene, L., & Mintz, J. (2002). Research on faculty as teaching mentors: Lessons learned from a study of participants in UC Berkeley's seminar for faculty who teach with graduate student instructors. In D. Lieberman & C. Wehlburg (Eds.), *To improve the academy: Vol. 20. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development* (pp. 77-93). Bolton, MA: Anker.

#### W

Wabash National Study of Liberal Arts Education (n.d.). Effective practices and experiences from the Wabash National Study. Retrieved November 13, 2008, from http://www.wabash.edu/cila/docs/11.13.08%20Effective%20Practices%20summary%20 with%20data%20web%20final.pdf

Wadsworth, E. C., Hilsen, L., & Shea, M. A. (Eds.). (1988). A handbook for new practitioners. Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Wagoner, R. L. (Ed.) (2007). New directions for community colleges, No. 140. The current landscape and changing perspectives of part-time faculty. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Wallin, D. L. (2007). Part-time faculty and professional development: Notes from the field. In R. L. Wagoner (Ed.), New directions for community colleges, 140. The current landscape and changing perspectives of part-time faculty (pp. 67-73). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Walsh, D.C. (2006). Trustworthy leadership; Can we be the leaders we need our students to become? Kalamazoo, MI: The Fetzer Institute.

Walvoord, B. E. (2004). Assessment clear and simple: A practical guide for institutions, departments, and general education. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Walvoord, B. E., & Anderson, V. J. (1998). Effective grading: A tool for learning and assessment. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass

Weber, L. (2004). A conceptual framework for understanding race, class, gender, and sexuality. In S. N. Hesse-Biber & M. L. Yaiser (Eds.), *Feminist perspectives on social research* (pp. 121-139). Cambridge, England: Oxford University Press.

Wehlburg, C. (2006). Meaningful course revision: Enhancing academic engagement using student learning data. Bolton, MA: Anker.

Wehlburg, C. M. (2008). Promoting integrated and transformative assessment: A deeper focus on student learning. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass. Weinstein, G., & O' Bear, K. (1992). Bias issues in the classroom: Encounters with the teaching

Self. In M. Adams (Ed.), .), New directions for teaching and learning, 52. Promoting diversity in college classrooms: Innovative responses for the curriculum, faculty, and institutions (pp. 39-50). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Wertsch, M. E. (1991). Military brats: Legacies of childhood inside the fortress. St. Louis, MO: Brightwell.

Wheeler, D. W., & Schuster, J. H. (1990). Building comprehensive programs to enhance faculty development. In J. H. Schuster, D. W. Wheeler & Associates (Eds.), *Enhancing faculty careers* (pp. 275-297). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Whitt, E. (1991). Hit the ground running: Experiences of new faculty in a school of education. Review of Higher Education 14 (2): 177-197.

Wijeyesinghe, C. L., & Jackson, B. W., III. (Eds.) (2001). New perspectives on racial identity development: A theoretical and practical anthology. New York, NY: New York University Press

Wilhite, M.S., Lunde, J.P., & Latta, G.F. (2000). Faculty teaching partners: Engaging faculty as leaders in instructional development. In M. Kaplan & D. Lieberman (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 18. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 181-92). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Wilkerson, L. (1984). Starting a faculty development program: Strategies and approaches. In L. C. Buhl & L. A. Wilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 3. Resources for faculty instructional, and organizational development (pp. 25-43). Stillwater, OK: New Forums.

Williams, D. A., Berger, J. B., & McClendon, S. A. (2005). Toward a model of inclusive excellence and change in postsecondary institutions. Washington, DC: American Association of Colleges and Universities.

Williams, D. A., & Wade-Golden, K. C. (2008, September 26). The complex mandate of a chief diversity officer. The Chronicle of Higher Education, 55(5), B44. Retrieved on November 10, 2008 from http://chronicle.com/weekly/v55/i05/05b04401.htm.

Wlodkowski, R. J. (1998). Enhancing adult motivation to learn: A comprehensive guide forteaching all adults. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Wlodkowski, R. J. (1999). Motivation and diversity: A framework for teaching. In M. Theall (Ed.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 78. Motivation from within: Encouraging faculty and students to excel. (pp. 7-16). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.

Wlodkowski, R.J., & Ginsberg, M.B. (1995). Diversity and motivation. San Francisco, CA: Jossev-Bass.

Wolf, P. (2007). A model for facilitating curriculum development in higher education: A facultydriven, data-informed, and educational developer-supported approach. In J. Christensen Hughes & P. Wolf (Eds.), New directions for teaching and learning, No. 112. Curriculum development in higher education (pp. 15-20). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Wolf-Wendel, L., Twombly, S., Morphew, C., & Sopchich, J. (2004). From the barrio to the bucolic: The student transfer experience from hsis to Smith College. Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 28, (3), 213-231.

Woodrow Wilson National Fellowship Foundation (2005). The responsive Ph.D. Innovations in U.S. doctoral education. Retrieved November 15, 2008, from

http://www.woodrow.org/images/pdf/resphd/ResponsivePhD\_overview.pdf

Wright, D. L. (2000). Faculty development centers in research universities: A study of resources and programs. In M. Kaplan & D. Lieberman (Eds.). To improve the academy: Vol. 18. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 291-301). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Wright, D. L. (2002). Program types and prototypes. In K. H. Gillespie, L. R. Hilsen, & E. C. Wadsworth (Eds.), A guide to faculty development: Practical advice, examples, and resources (pp. 24-34). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Wright, M. C. (2008). Always at odds? Creating alignment between faculty and administrative values. Albany, NY: SUNY Press.

Wright, M. C., Purkiss, P., O'Neal, C., & Cook, C. E. (2008). International teaching assistants and student retention in the sciences. *Studies in Graduate and Professional Student Development*, 11(1), 109-120.

Wulff, D., & Austin, A. E. (Eds.) (2004). Pathways to the professoriate: Strategies for enriching the preparation of future faculty. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Wulff, D. H., Austin, A. E., Nyquist, J. D., & Sprague, J. (2004). The development of graduate students as teaching scholars: A four-year longitudinal study. In D. H. Wulff & A. E. Austin (Eds.), Pathways to the professoriate: Strategies for enriching the preparation of future faculty (pp. 46-73). San Francisco, CA:: Jossey-Bass

## Y

Yee, K. (2007). Ensuring an effective start for adjunct faculty: Orientation with multiple options. In R. E. Lyons (Ed.), Best practices for supporting adjunct faculty (pp. 13-30). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Yeskel, F., & Collins, C. (2005). Economic apartheid in America: A primer on economic inequality and insecurity (2nd ed). New York, NY: The New Press.

YouTube, Inc. (2005). YouTube. Retrieved October 8, 2008, from http://www.youtube.com/ Yun, J., & Sorcinelli, M. D., (2007). From mentors to mentoring networks: Mentoring in the new academy. Change, 39(6), 58-61.

Yun, J., & Sorcinelli, M. D., (2008). When mentoring is the medium: Lessons learned from a faculty development initiative. In L. B. Nilson & J. E. Miller (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol 27. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp. 365-384). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

## Z

Zahorski, D. (1993). Taking the lead: Faculty development as institutional change agent. In D. L. Wright & J. P. Lunde (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 12. Resources for faculty, instructional, and organizational development (pp.227-245). Stillwater, OK: New Forums

Zakrajsek, T. (2003). The 5-minute workshop. Innovation Ideas from POD Participants.

Retrieved October 20, 2008, from http://www.wku.edu/teaching/db/podbi/main.php Zakrajsek, T. (2007). Interpreting written feedback from student ratings of instruction. Retrieved August 3, 2008, from http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OTcOWcE8Ab4&feature=user

Zhu, E. (2008). Breaking down barriers to the use of technology for teaching in higher education. In D. R. Robertson & L. B. Nilson (Eds.), To improve the academy: Vol. 26. Resources for faculty, instructional and organizational development (pp. 305-318). Bolton, MA: Anker.

Zimmer, M. (2005, August 12). How to find students' inner geek. The Chronicle of Higher Education, p. B5.

Zimmer, M. (2007, February 16). Guerrilla puzzling: A model for research. The Chronicle of Higher Education, p. B5.

Zull, J. E. (2002). The art of changing the brain. Sterling, VA: Stylus